

U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Railroad Administration

Evaluation of Fiber Optic Broken Rail Detection Systems

Office of Research, Development and Technology Washington, DC 20590



Final Report November 2018

NOTICE

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof. Any opinions, findings and conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this material do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the United States Government, nor does mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement by the United States Government. The United States Government assumes no liability for the content or use of the material contained in this document.

NOTICE

The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers' names appear herein solely because they are considered essential to the objective of this report.

REPORT D	OCUM	ENTATION P	AGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of gathering and maintaining the data needed, collection of information, including suggestio Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22	information is e and completing ns for reducing 202-4302, and	estimated to average 1 hour per g and reviewing the collection o this burden, to Washington He to the Office of Management a	response, including the time for f information. Send comments adquarters Services, Directora ind Budget, Paperwork Reducti	or reviewing ins regarding this te for Informati on Project (070	structions, searching existing data sources, burden estimate or any other aspect of this on Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson 04-0188), Washington, DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blan	k)	2. REPORT DATE Novemb	per 2018	3. REPOR Techr	RT TYPE AND DATES COVERED hical Report - May 7, 2015, to January 16, 2018
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE				5	. FUNDING NUMBERS
Evaluation of Fiber Optic Broke	n Rail Det	ection Systems			
6. AUTHOR(S) Shad Pate, Kane Sutton, Thoma	s Hall, Ma	tthew Holcomb, and N	ate Stoehr	Т	Cask Order 0005
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION Transportation Technology Cent 55500 DOT Road Pueblo, CO 81001	NAME(S) A ter, Inc.	ND ADDRESS(ES)		8	. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION EPORT NUMBER
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AC U.S. Department of Transportati Federal Railroad Administration Office of Railroad Policy and D Office of Research, Developmen Washington, DC 20590	GENCY NAN ion evelopmen nt and Tecl	/IE(S) AND ADDRESS(ES ut hmology	5)	1	0. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER DOT/FRA/ORD-18/37
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES COR: Richard Orcutt					
12a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY This document is available to th	STATEME e public th	NT rough the FRA <u>website</u>	<u>2</u> .	1	2b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 word Transportation Technology Cent Tonnage Loop (HTL). Three di broken rail detection using DAS track circuits identified areas of broken rail detection. Some area alarms.	ter, Inc. (T fferent Dis systems. needed im as of impro	TCI) conducted a base tributed Acoustic Sens Results of the evaluation provement and maturit powement include increa	line fiber optic broken ing (DAS) systems we on and a comparison b y for DAS systems to sed accuracy of broker	rail detect ere evaluate etween DA be a viable n rail detec	ion evaluation on the High ed to show the current state of AS systems and conventional option for train tracking and tion and decreased rate of false
14. SUBJECT TERMS					15. NUMBER OF PAGES
Broken rail detection evaluation	, fiber opti	c, Distributed Acoustic	Sensing, DAS, track	circuits	76
					16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECU OF THIS	RITY CLASSIFICATION PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASS OF ABSTRACT	IFICATION	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT
Unclassified		Unclassified	Unclassified	a	Standard Form 208 (Rev. 2 90)

METRIC/ENGLISH CONVERSION FACTORS

ENGLISH TO METRIC	METRIC TO ENGLISH
LENGTH (APPROXIMATE)	LENGTH (APPROXIMATE)
1 inch (in) = 2.5 centimeters (cm)	1 millimeter (mm) = 0.04 inch (in)
1 foot (ft) = 30 centimeters (cm)	1 centimeter (cm) = 0.4 inch (in)
1 yard (yd) = 0.9 meter (m)	1 meter (m) = 3.3 feet (ft)
1 mile (mi) = 1.6 kilometers (km)	1 meter (m) = 1.1 yards (yd)
	1 kilometer (km) = 0.6 mile (mi)
AREA (APPROXIMATE)	AREA (APPROXIMATE)
1 square inch (sq in, in ²) = 6.5 square centimeters (cm ²)	1 square centimeter (cm ²) = 0.16 square inch (sq in, in ²)
1 square foot (sq ft, ft ²) = 0.09 square meter (m ²)	1 square meter (m ²) = 1.2 square yards (sq yd, yd ²)
1 square yard (sq yd, yd ²) = 0.8 square meter (m ²)	1 square kilometer (km²) = 0.4 square mile (sq mi, mi²)
1 square mile (sq mi, mi ²) = 2.6 square kilometers (km ²)	10,000 square meters (m^2) = 1 hectare (ha) = 2.5 acres
1 acre = 0.4 hectare (he) = 4,000 square meters (m ²)	
MASS - WEIGHT (APPROXIMATE)	MASS - WEIGHT (APPROXIMATE)
1 ounce (oz) = 28 grams (gm)	1 gram (gm) = 0.036 ounce (oz)
1 pound (lb) = 0.45 kilogram (kg)	1 kilogram (kg) = 2.2 pounds (lb)
1 short ton = 2,000 pounds = 0.9 tonne (t)	1 tonne (t) = 1,000 kilograms (kg)
(16)	= 1.1 short tons
VOLUME (APPROXIMATE)	VOLUME (APPROXIMATE)
1 teaspoon (tsp) = 5 milliliters (ml)	1 milliliter (ml) = 0.03 fluid ounce (fl oz)
1 tablespoon (tbsp) = 15 milliliters (ml)	1 liter (I) = 2.1 pints (pt)
1 fluid ounce (fl oz) = 30 milliliters (ml)	1 liter (I) = 1.06 quarts (qt)
1 cup (c) = 0.24 liter (l)	1 liter (I) = 0.26 gallon (gal)
1 pint (pt) = 0.47 liter (I)	
1 quart (qt) = 0.96 liter (l)	
1 gallon (gal) = 3.8 liters (I)	
1 cubic foot (cu ft, ft ³) = 0.03 cubic meter (m ³)	1 cubic meter (m ³) = 36 cubic feet (cu ft, ft ³)
1 cubic yard (cu yd, yd ³) = 0.76 cubic meter (m ³)	1 cubic meter (m ³) = 1.3 cubic yards (cu yd, yd ³)
TEMPERATURE (EXACT)	TEMPERATURE (EXACT)
[(x-32)(5/9)] °F = y °C	[(9/5) y + 32] °C = x °F
QUICK INCH - CENTIMET	ER LENGTH CONVERSION
0 1 2	3 4 5
Inches	
	6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13
QUICK FAHRENHEIT - CELSIU	S TEMPERATURE CONVERSIO
°F -40° -22° -4° 14° 32° 50° 68°	86° 104° 122° 140° 158° 176° 194° 212°
ິC -40° -30° -20° -10° 0° 10° 20°	30° 40° 50° 60° 70° 80° 90° 100°

For more exact and or other conversion factors, see NIST Miscellaneous Publication 286, Units of Weights and Measures. Price \$2.50 SD Catalog No. C13 10286

Acknowledgements

Transportation Technology Center, Inc. (TTCI) would like to acknowledge the fiber optic vendors that participated in this project. They supplied their Distributed Acoustic Sensing (DAS) systems, as well as installed and calibrated them to the fiber optic test bed at the Transportation Technology Center (TTC), started and stopped data collection during test days, and supported the evaluation of their systems throughout the project.

Contents

Executive S	Summary	1
1.	Introduction	2
1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	Background Objectives Overall Approach Scope Organization of the Report	3 4 4 4 4
2.	Fiber Optic Broken Rail Detection Evaluation	6
2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	Trial Setup and Calibration Data Gathering and Analysis from Normal FAST Operations Data Gathering and Analysis for Additional Testing	6 12 40 58
3.	Gap Analysis	50
3.1 3.2	Track Circuit Background	50 51
4.	Conclusion	55
5.	References	56
Appendix		57
Abbreviatio	ons and Acronyms	58

Illustrations

Figure 1.	Fiber Layout Around the HTL	3
Figure 2.	Superior Essex [®] FTTP	7
Figure 3.	Overview of Fiber Optic Cable Location at the HTL	8
Figure 4.	HTL Bridge with Fiber Optic Conduit	9
Figure 5.	HTL with Broken Rail Locations 1	6
Figure 6.	Example FAST Consist Recording 1	8
Figure 7.	Example Test Events Log 1	9
Figure 8.	Example Broken Rail TTCI Internal Notes	0
Figure 9.	Example Additional TTCI Internal Notes	1
Figure 10.	FAST Log Broken Rail Picture	1
Figure 11.	Location of Suppressed Areas	9
Figure 12.	Locomotive GPS Speed 4	1
Figure 13.	Speed Plot for DAS System 2000 4	2
Figure 14.	Speed Plot for DAS System 2003 Loop 1 4	3
Figure 15.	Speed Plot for DAS System 2003 Loop 2 4	3
Figure 16	Speed Plot for DAS System 2003 Loop 3 4	4
Figure 17.	Speed Plot for DAS System 2005 4	5
Figure 18.	Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5140 4	6
Figure 19	FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5140 4	7
Figure 20.	Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5141	8
Figure 21.	FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5141 4	9
Figure 22.	Artificial Flat Used to Cause High Impacts 5	0
Figure 23.	Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 51425	1
Figure 24.	FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5142 5	2
Figure 25.	Broken Rail Alarm Histograms for DAS System 2003	4
Figure 26.	Broken Rail Alarm Histograms for DAS System 2005 5	5
Figure 27.	Test Events Log for Rail Gap Testing Run 5143 5	7
Figure 28.	Rail Gap Testing DAS System Alarms	8

Tables

Table 1:	Summary of FAST Operations	13
Table 2:	Summary of Broken Rails During Trial	22
Table 3:	Daily Record of Broken Rails and DAS System Alarms Through February 2017	24
Table 4:	Overview of Alarms Caused by Track Features	28
Table 5:	Overview of Trial Results	30
Table 6:	DAS System 2000 Data from February 2017–November 2017	31
Table 7:	DAS System 2003, Loop 1, Data from December 2016–November 2017	33
Table 8:	DAS System 2003, Loop 2, Data from December 2016–November 2017	34
Table 9:	DAS System 2003, Loop 3, Data from December 2016–November 2017	36
Table 10	: DAS System 2005 Data from December 2016–November 2017	38
Table 11	: Broken Rail Alarms During High Impact Wheel Testing	52

Executive Summary

Transportation Technology Center, Inc. (TTCI), under contract to the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), completed a baseline broken rail detection evaluation on three fiber optic Distributed Acoustic Sensing (DAS) systems. This evaluation was conducted from May 7, 2015, to January 16, 2018. The DAS systems were tested using the fiber optic test bed on the High Tonnage Loop (HTL) at the Transportation Technology Center (TTC) during normal Facility for Accelerated Service Testing (FAST) operations. Two of the DAS systems (DAS 2000 and DAS 2005) were 5 km systems covering one loop of the HTL and the third DAS system (DAS 2003) was a 40-km system covering three loops of the HTL. The evaluation provided results of the broken rail detection capabilities for each system.

In addition to the evaluation completed during normal FAST operations, a 1-week test using a similar FAST consist was conducted to test operations at different operating speeds, with high impact wheels and different size rail gaps at a rail joint. This testing showed that rail gaps do not seem to introduce additional false alarms. However, testing at varying speeds did show that DAS 2000 had trouble tracking trains at lower speeds, and the testing at varying speeds and with high impact wheels appears to increase the false alarm rates for DAS 2003 and DAS 2005.

The baseline evaluation of the DAS systems shows that improvement is needed in both the rail break detection accuracy and the reduction of false alarms, as well as improvement in performance at lower speeds. Raw data from each DAS system throughout the evaluation is available for playback testing of future improvements to the systems.

A comparison between conventional track circuits and DAS systems was completed to determine if DAS systems can perform all functions of track circuits and, if not, what modifications would need to be made to do so. The results of the comparison indicate that DAS systems need to be improved upon as stand-alone systems, or combined with additional technologies, for functions such as track discrimination, precise location determination, recovery from system reboots or power outages, and train tracking at lower speeds. Additional testing with DAS systems would also be needed to determine how the system operates with other train types and track equipment, as well as multiple trains running across parallel tracks. Additional functions that DAS systems may be able to perform that conventional track circuits cannot, are train tracking within a signal block or approaching grade crossings, high impact wheel detection, slide fence detection, monitoring track structure, and trespassing detection.

It is recommended that DAS systems be installed on single track territories or dark territories and be tested/monitored by vendors to improve rail break detection while showcasing some of the other benefits that DAS systems can provide. Additional testing can be conducted at the Transportation Technology Center once the systems have matured, and the results of that testing can be compared to these baselined systems.

1. Introduction

This report describes the testing and analysis that Transportation Technology Center, Inc. (TTCI) completed, under contract to the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), to evaluate fiber optic Distributed Acoustic Sensing (DAS) broken rail detection systems from May 7, 2015, to January 16, 2018. The report also summarizes a comparison between conventional track circuits and DAS systems to help determine the feasibility of DAS systems performing functions of conventional track circuits.

The broken rail detection testing used the fiber optic test bed previously installed on the High Tonnage Loop (HTL) at the Transportation Technology Center (TTC). The HTL fiber optic test bed was configured for 5 km and 40 km DAS broken rail detection systems. DAS systems use single mode fiber optic cable to detect the acoustic signature generated by a moving train, as well as other events of interest, including rail breaks, by picking up vibrations transmitted from the train and track, through the earth, and to the cable.

Testing of the DAS broken rail detection systems was conducted during normal Facility for Accelerated Service Testing (FAST) operations with each system transmitting broken rail alarms over a wired network to a fiber optic back office system installed at TTC. Broken rail alarms included information about the alarm, such as:

- The origin of the fiber system alarm
- The head and tail Global Positioning System (GPS) location of train at time of alarm
- GPS location of the broken rail alarm
- Timestamp data

Using daily FAST logs and DAS reported logs, a baseline evaluation was conducted to determine the current capabilities of DAS broken rail detection systems.

- DAS 2000
 - Approximately 22,426 train miles of testing, including 22 rail breaks
 - o FAST track circuits found 13 rail breaks, while DAS 2000 found 8
 - DAS 2000 had 70 false alarms or 0.31 false alarms per 100 train miles
- DAS 2003
 - Approximately 21,794 train miles of testing, including 22 rail breaks
 - FAST track circuits found 14 rail breaks, while DAS 2003 loops 1 and 2 found 4 and loop 3 found 3
 - o DAS 2003 loop 1 had 1,370 false positives or 6.29 false alarms per 100 train miles
 - o DAS 2003 loop 2 had 1,082 false positives or 4.96 false alarms per 100 train miles
 - DAS 2003 loop 3 had 1,388 false positives or 6.37 false alarms per 100 train miles
- DAS 2005
 - o Approximately 22,680 train miles of testing, including 22 rail breaks

- o FAST track circuits found 14 rail breaks while DAS 2005 found 4
- DAS 2005 had 992 false alarms or 4.37 false alarms per 100 train miles

1.1 Background

In 2012 and 2013, a fiber optic test bed was installed around the HTL track, and a feasibility study was conducted to evaluate the potential of DAS technologies to detect broken rails [1]. The HTL was used for the fiber optic test bed and the feasibility study because of the number of broken rails, typically one to two each week, generated from the FAST program testing on that track. FAST typically runs a loaded 90 to 100 car train (number of cars can vary below and above these values) around the 2.7-mile HTL loop four nights a week during the spring and fall months. Figure 1 shows the layout of the fiber optic test bed around the HTL.

The test bed was designed to be configurable for a variety of wayside detection methods which include, but are not limited to, detection of broken rails, flat wheels, train location, and siding roll outs. Testing was conducted at TTC in 2012 and 2013 to determine the viability of using DAS technology to detect broken rails in railroad service lines. The results indicated that, with additional data processing techniques, DAS technology has the potential to detect and alert on broken rails. Since that time, fiber optic DAS vendors have implemented real time broken rail detection capabilities.



Figure 1. Fiber Layout Around the HTL

1.2 Objectives

This evaluation was conducted to baseline the capabilities of current DAS-based broken rail detection systems, identify areas of improvement, and investigate if and how fiber optic-based systems can perform the functions of conventional track circuits.

1.3 Overall Approach

Fiber optic DAS systems with railroad broken rail detection capabilities were identified and a request to participate in the evaluation was extended to the vendors. Three different systems were offered for the evaluation, two systems with broken rail detection capabilities up to 5 km and one system up to 40 km. The evaluation began with vendors integrating their fiber optic broken rail detection systems into the existing fiber optic test bed on the HTL by either connecting their system to a fiber optic cable covering a single loop of the HTL (5 km systems) or a fiber optic cable covering three loops of the HTL (40 km systems).

Each vendor was given access to the track as well as a calibration period during FAST operations to monitor and configure their systems. Vendors were responsible for starting and stopping their systems each test day, and making sure broken rail alarms generated were transmitted to the fiber optic back office. Logs from FAST operations were used along with alarms generated by each system to evaluate the broken rail detection capabilities of each system.

Determining the feasibility of using DAS systems to perform functions of track circuits with at least the same level of performance was completed by developing use cases for track circuit functions and then determining if and how fiber optic systems perform in those use cases.

1.4 Scope

The fiber optic broken rail detection trial only covers a single specific train type (loaded 70 to 99 car unit freight train) operating, for the most part, at 40 mph over the same 2.7 mile loop. Limited evaluation was also completed at speeds of 10 mph, 20 mph, and 30 mph with the same train. The evaluation does not cover other train types, speeds, or tracks.

The comparison between conventional track circuits and DAS systems was conducted by building use cases for track occupancy and broken rails to determine how DAS systems would provide the same functionality as track circuits. From previous fiber optic projects and knowledge of how the technology and systems operate, TTCI determined if and how the DAS systems could provide the same level of functionality. For areas where DAS systems lacked functionality, a recommendation of future changes and/or supplementary technologies is made to satisfy those functions.

1.5 Organization of the Report

Section 1 discusses the introduction and provides a brief overview of the fiber optic test bed, and includes an overview of the project with descriptions of the project objectives, overall approach, and scope.

Section 2 summarizes the fiber optic broken rail detection trial with an analysis of each system tested.

Section 3 covers the comparison completed between conventional track circuits and DAS systems.

Section 4 is a brief conclusion.

Appendix A is an in-depth analysis provided by the vendor for one of the systems.

<u>Appendix B</u> is a compilation of the FAST logs from the testing and can be found via FRA's eLibrary.

2. Fiber Optic Broken Rail Detection Evaluation

The fiber optic DAS broken rail detection evaluation was conducted in three phases. In the first phase, vendors set up and calibrated their systems, detailed in Section 2.1. The second phase consisted of data gathering and analysis during normal FAST operations, detailed in Section 2.2. The third phase involved data gathering and analysis from additional testing, detailed in Section 2.3. Section 2.4 provides general observations from the entire test period.

2.1 Trial Setup and Calibration

The test setup phase consisted of configuring the fiber optic test bed, installing and integrating the DAS broken rail detection systems with the test bed, and calibrating the systems once integrated. This phase of the project also included the setup of a fiber optic back office and integrated each DAS system with the back office. Data collection methods and the test methodology were also defined in the trial setup phase. The following subsections give further detail of the test setup phase.

2.1.1 Fiber Optic Test Bed Overview and Configuration

In prior efforts, TTCI installed a fiber optic test section that roughly parallels the HTL. The cable choice used for the installation was 12-strand Superior Essex[®] FTTP type. This cable was chosen for its ability to be installed in an outdoor environment without the use of thick outside cladding used in many fiber optic cables as a means of protection and strength. The FTTP cable is a loose tube, gel-filled fiber optic cable that uses solid core fiberglass strengthening members to allow for outdoor use and a high pull rating, greater than 300 pounds. Figure 2 shows a diagram of the cable.

The fiber optic cable deployed at the HTL test site is 3 miles long. A 328-foot section that does not parallel the track directly is used as a transition zone from the test bungalow to the HTL track. The fiber cable is installed, on average, 15 feet from track centerline. The cable is buried at depths from 18 inches to 42 inches, averaging 36 inches deep, in most sections directly paralleling the track. Directional boring was also used as a means of perpendicular track crossings.



Figure 2. Superior Essex[®] FTTP

Fiber optic cable buried in an open trench was installed at 36 inches with the exception of one purposefully designed installation depth test zone. This depth test zone is located in section 3 for 650 feet paralleling the track, and it has a double cable of fiber, one at 36 inches deep and a second at 18 inches deep. Installation of the fiber optic cable between sections 35 and 36 was performed using directional boring at a depth of 42 inches. Directional boring was chosen as an installation method in these sections to allow the fiber to be installed at equal distances from both the mainline and bypass sections of the HTL. As the track spacing in this area does not lend itself well to the direct burial installation method, directional boring was used as a means of best-case installation method for this area. Figure 3 shows an overview of the fiber optic cable location around the HTL.



Figure 3. Overview of Fiber Optic Cable Location at the HTL

There are three bridges on the HTL, two precast concrete and one steel in composition. Each of the bridge spans hosts a different set of test objectives and materials. After studying railroad bridge fiber optic transition methods used on revenue service lines, TTCI concluded that the use of a small diameter ridged steel conduit affixed to the lower side of the bridge ballast curb (see Figure 4) was the most practical installation method to use. This installation method coincidentally also provides a secure connection between the bridge structure and the fiber optic cable allowing for a usable amount of acoustic coupling.

For approximately one quarter of the track, the HTL runs parallel to the Railroad Test Track (RTT) with track centerlines separated by about 20 feet. By installing the fiber optic cable under and on the outside of the RTT in a portion of this test section, the cable configuration provides the capability to collect single track data during testing (by excluding RTT traffic during test runs) and offers the potential for acquiring double-track data in future testing, when the defect detection algorithms are more mature.



Figure 4. HTL Bridge with Fiber Optic Conduit

The fiber optic test bed was configured to support DAS systems capable of detecting broken rails at distances of up to 5 km or 40 km. The 5 km systems utilized a single fiber strand making one complete loop around the HTL. The 40 km systems utilized three strands of fiber with reels of fiber in between to cover three loops of the HTL:

- Loop 1 spans 0 km 4.8 km, a 10-km reel is spliced between loop 1 and loop 2
- Loop 2 spans 14.8 km 19.6 km, a 15-km reel is spliced between loop 2 and loop 3
- Loop 3 spans 34.7 km 40.1 km

2.1.2 Installation of Vendor Systems

A total of five DAS systems were installed during the broken rail detection trial. Of these systems, four were installed on a single loop of the track totaling 4.8 km in length. One was installed with a combination of three repeated loops of the track as well as spools of fiber installed between each loop. This configuration allowed for the system to monitor a total of 40 km of fiber. Of the five installed systems, three were used for data analysis once the systems were set up and calibrated. The other two installed systems were used as experimental systems by the vendors. These two systems were used by the vendors to run parallel versions of software, and the vendors were allowed access to make changes during the testing to improve on system capabilities. These two systems were not evaluated during this project.

Prior to vendor system installation, the test bed was optimized to provide the best data results from testing. This optimization included fixing several fusion splices in the fiber optic cable to reduce loss. After upgrading the splice points in the fiber cable, the cable was tested using an

Optical Time Domain Reflectometer (OTDR) to verify that all splice points in the cable tested with <1 db of loss.

Remote access via internet connection was installed for each of the participating venders to allow them to start and stop test systems, as well as transfer rail break data to their home office for further independent research and development.

2.1.3 Calibration of Systems

After the DAS hardware was installed, it required calibration to improve the accuracy of reporting by the DAS system. A typical DAS calibration consists of generating acoustic signals on or near the rail while the DAS system is monitoring and recording the GPS location where the signal is produced. The GPS data is then input to the DAS system as a location point. This method of calibration was utilized as the initial setup.

A second means of calibration was also explored as a means of dynamically calibrating the DAS systems. For this calibration, a light weight rail vehicle instrumented with a GPS receiver was used. A light weight rail vehicle was used because it generates a smaller acoustic signal, due to its size and weight. With a smaller acoustic signal, the spatial accuracy can be improved. The GPS system was set to a sampling rate of 10 times per second. The light weight rail vehicle was operated at 10 mph for a total of two laps around the HTL while the DAS systems recorded data. After calibration data was recorded on both the DAS and GPS units, the data was reassembled by matching the timestamps of the data from both systems. The outcome of this experimental method of DAS calibration was very positive, as it greatly reduced the amount of time required to perform the calibration.

Following the GPS calibration of the systems, the vendors used FAST operations for several weeks to help calibrate other settings within their systems. Once each vendor was satisfied with their calibration setup, they informed TTCI that they were set up and ready for the trial to begin. Subsequent weeks of FAST operations were then used as official trial data.

2.1.4 Fiber Optic Back Office

The back office system was created to match requirements provided by CSX, for this project and future fiber optic testing, to incorporate fiber optic DAS data into the back office. The back office contains over 40 tables for fiber optic, train, and track information. All back office information can be accessed through a structured query language (SQL) interface. The information used to analyze rail break data was pulled from the following tables:

- RAIL_BREAK_DEFECT contained all the broken rail alarms for all systems. The information in this table includes:
 - o Rail Break Alarm ID
 - Time of the alarm in Greenwich Mean Time (GMT)
 - GMT + 0 during winter months
 - GMT + 1 during British summer time
 - Track the alarm occurred on
 - GPS location of the alarm

- TRAIN_INFO contained GPS locations for the head and tail of the train recorded several times a minute.
- STATUS used to determine which nights each DAS system operated on.

To differentiate between DAS system alarms within the back office, the rail break alarm ID contains 2000, 2003, or 2005 at the beginning of the ID to identify the system that sent the alarm. ID 2003 corresponds to a long fiber system which utilizes three different loops around the HTL. To differentiate alarms on these loops, the DAS reported a track number of 1, 2, or 3 with each track corresponding to different distances along the fiber. Track 1 spans 0 km–4.8 km, track 2 spans 14.8 km–19.6 km, and track 3 spans 34.7 km–40.1 km along the fiber optic cable. ID 2003 is the only DAS system that could generate alarms on multiple tracks.

2.1.5 Data Collection Methods

Data was collected from three sources: the FAST test logs, the broken rail alarms retrieved from the back office, and the vendors' DAS data. Each vendor collected their own DAS data. This data was used by the vendors to do a more detailed analysis of their alarms, if they so choose. Vendors were also asked to provide supplemental data for this report, to provide insights into the analysis of the raw data. <u>Appendix A</u> contains reports received by the vendors.

The FAST log data provided information about the operation on every night of testing. FAST logs for the test period are available in <u>Appendix B</u> and an example of the FAST logs is detailed in Section 2.2.2. FAST log information included:

- Consist Information
- Number of Laps Completed
- Direction of Consist Travel (Clockwise or Counterclockwise)
- Track Used for Testing (Main or Bypass)
- Number of Broken Rails
- Number of Broken Rails Detected by Track Circuit
- Additional Data for Each Broken Rail

Additionally, a weather station located at FAST was used to record the high and low temperature for each day of testing.

Finally, the RAIL_BREAK_DEFECT table of the back office system, discussed in Section 2.1.4, was used to create a table of all alarms from each system for each day. This information was used during data analysis to determine the validity of each alarm that the systems recorded. Raw DAS data was also recorded and saved during the trial and is available to the vendors for playback on their systems to test modifications to their systems and algorithms in the future.

2.1.6 Test Methodology

Using information from the sources outlined in Section 2.1.5, tables were constructed and a data analysis was completed to determine the validity of all alarms that were recorded. Each DAS system alarm was evaluated and assigned one of three results:

- True Positive An alarm present at the location and within the time tolerance of a broken rail
- False Positive An alarm present in a location or time where a broken rail did not occur
- False Negative A broken rail on track with no alarms from the system at that location within the time tolerance

DAS systems were evaluated daily to determine the number of occurrences of each of these results.

The DAS units are only able to pinpoint alarms within a certain spatial range, since the acoustic response from the train at a location on the track excites the fiber in both directions for a distance along the fiber. After communicating with the vendors, a range of 450 feet from a broken rail was set as the spatial tolerance. This means any alarms that were within ± 450 feet of a broken rail were evaluated to determine if they were within the time tolerance of the rail break. The time tolerance was determined based on whether the rail break was detected by the FAST signaling system or by the FAST train crew. When a broken rail is found during FAST operations, the operations personnel stop the train to fix the broken rail. If an alarm occurred after the train had stopped, it was marked as a false positive. If a broken rail was found by the signaling system, any alarms within the distance tolerance and within two hours of the break were marked as true positives. If a broken rail was found through crew detection, it is possible that the break could have occurred any time since the beginning of that day of operations. As such, any alarms that were within range and detected before the crew stopped the train were marked as true positives.

2.2 Data Gathering and Analysis from Normal FAST Operations

The data gathering and analysis from the FAST operations phase started when the vendor of each system was satisfied with their calibration setup. This phase included a total of 93 test days, starting in November 2016 and ending in November 2017, and included 29 broken rails. Due to system calibration completion dates, communication issues with the back office, and hardware issues, each system includes a unique set of the dates tested during the trial.

The data gathering and analysis from the FAST operations phase consisted of gathering FAST daily logs and documenting broken rails, storing DAS system broken rail alarms in a SQL database, analysis of DAS system broken rail alarms, broken rail detection evaluation of each DAS system, and recording overall observations from the trial. The following subsections detail each of the tasks of the data gathering and analysis from the FAST operations phase.

2.2.1 FAST Operational Data

The FAST train, comprising three SD70 locomotives and 70 to 99 315,000-pound cars, is operated over a 2.7-mile long mainline quality track at an average speed of 40 mph. FAST operations last approximately 9 hours each night. The oval-shaped HTL, where the FAST train is operated, is comprised of moderate curves and tangent track with new and untried track and bridge components and designs.

Each day of operations at FAST produces a test log that provides details about operations, such as the direction of travel (either clockwise or counterclockwise), consist information, number of

laps completed, number of broken rails and detection method for broken rails, and if the train ran on the HTL mainline or the HTL bypass. Using weather data during the time FAST ran each night, the high and low temperature were also recorded. Table 1 provides a summary of the data recorded from FAST operations during the trial period.

Date	Consist Info (3 Locos)	Number of Laps Completed	Temp. Low (°F)	Temp High (°F)	Clockwise (CW) Counterclockwise (CCW)	Main (M) Bypass (B)	Number of Broken Rails	Broken Rails Detected by Track Circuit
10/31/16	75 Cars	124	45.0	82.0	CCW	М	0	0
11/1/16	75 Cars	102	39.9	66.0	CCW	М	1	1
11/2/16	76 Cars	124	37.9	66.9	CW	М	0	0
11/3/16	75 Cars	112	41.0	71.1	CW	В	0	0
11/9/16	73 Cars	84	27.0	66.9	CW	М	2	2
11/10/16	74 Cars	111	46.0	72.0	CW	В	0	0
11/14/16	75 Cars	123	35.1	72.0	CCW	В	0	0
11/15/16	74 Cars	112	34.0	78.1	CCW	М	0	0
11/16/16	74 Cars	108	51.1	75.0	CW	М	0	0
11/17/16	70 Cars	88	30.0	39.9	CW	М	2	2
12/5/16	70 Cars	30	45.3	66.6	CCW	М	0	0
12/6/16	70 Cars	13	10.3	42.4	CCW	М	1	1
12/7/16	73 Cars	15	18.8	34.2	CCW	М	0	0
12/8/16	73 Cars	25	17.3	33.6	CCW	М	1	1
2/13/17	85 Cars	126	40.4	52.7	CCW	М	0	0
2/14/17	87 Cars	92	32.4	67.0	CCW	В	1	1
2/15/17	86 Cars	110	36.0	71.2	CW	В	0	0
2/16/17	84 Cars	125	37.4	71.1	CW	М	0	0
2/21/17	84 Cars	122	54.3	71.9	CCW	М	0	0
2/22/17	87 Cars	127	41.1	71.2	CW	В	0	0
2/23/17	87 Cars	104	25.3	64.5	CW	В	1	1
2/27/17	86 Cars	124	36.7	69.9	CCW	М	1	1
2/28/17	86 Cars	120	24.3	59.0	CCW	В	0	0
3/1/17	86 Cars	47	26.7	64.3	CCW	В	0	0
3/2/17	86 Cars	126	28.4	70.2	CW	М	0	0
3/6/17	85 Cars	126	30.5	57.1	CCW	М	0	0
3/7/17	85 Cars	124	37.3	71.6	CCW	М	0	0

Table 1: Summary of FAST Operations

Date	Consist Info (3 Locos)	Number of Laps Completed	Temp. Low (°F)	Temp High (°F)	Clockwise (CW) Counterclockwise (CCW)	Main (M) Bypass (B)	Number of Broken Rails	Broken Rails Detected by Track Circuit
3/8/17	85 Cars	128	38.3	72.6	CW	М	0	0
3/9/17	82 Cars	108	39.1	76.4	CW	М	1	0
3/13/17	80 Cars	97	36.8	71.8	CCW	М	1	1
3/14/17	79 Cars	101	44.9	76.4	CCW	М	1	1
3/15/17	81 Cars	103	51.2	78.4	CW	М	0	0
3/16/17	83 Cars	117	50.0	77.7	CW	М	0	0
3/27/17	84 Cars	115	47.5	70.4	CCW	М	0	0
3/28/17	84 Cars	104	42.9	50.0	CCW	М	1	1
3/29/17	84 Cars	116	39.6	64.8	CW	М	0	0
3/30/17	83 Cars	121	44.9	71.9	CW	В	0	0
4/3/17	84 Cars	54	38.7	60.5	CCW	В	2	1
4/4/17	84 Cars	130	36.4	52.1	CCW	В	0	0
4/5/17	85 Cars	127	38.1	60.0	CW	В	0	0
4/6/17	82 Cars	124	44.6	72.3	CW	В	0	0
4/17/17	84 Cars	124	53.3	72.6	CCW	В	0	0
4/18/17	83 Cars	128	53.1	72.8	CCW	В	0	0
4/19/17	83 Cars	98	54.3	75.0	CW	В	0	0
4/20/17	85 Cars	117	49.4	60.3	CW	В	0	0
4/24/17	85 Cars	104	52.6	71.6	CCW	В	0	0
4/25/17	85 Cars	105	39.7	52.3	CCW	В	1	0
4/26/17	85 Cars	110	48.1	69.4	CW	В	0	0
4/27/17	85 Cars	130	42.4	64.5	CW	В	0	0
5/1/17	86 Cars	69	46.2	73.0	CCW	M/B	0	0
5/2/17	84 Cars	127	48.9	64.6	CCW	В	0	0
5/3/17	84 Cars	127	39.7	62.4	CW	В	0	0
5/4/17	84 Cars	125	49.3	73.0	CW	В	0	0
5/15/17	83 Cars	54	60.5	75.4	CW	M/B	0	0
5/16/17	84 Cars	123	54.8	71.6	CCW	М	0	0
5/17/17	84 Cars	130	53.4	72.4	CCW	В	0	0
5/18/17	82 Cars	113	44.3	50.9	CW	М	0	0
6/5/17	85 Cars	92	63.5	74.7	CCW	М	0	0
6/6/17	85 Cars	102	58.5	71.4	CCW	В	0	0

Date	Consist Info (3 Locos)	Number of Laps Completed	Temp. Low (°F)	Temp High (°F)	Clockwise (CW) Counterclockwise (CCW)	Main (M) Bypass (B)	Number of Broken Rails	Broken Rails Detected by Track Circuit
6/7/17	82 Cars	120	61.9	71.9	CW	В	0	0
6/8/17	80 Cars	123	61.3	72.4	CW	М	0	0
6/12/17	82 Cars	120	65.3	79.9	CCW	М	0	0
6/13/17	82 Cars	69	56.0	78.6	CCW	В	1	0
6/14/17	82 Cars	129	64.3	79.0	CW	В	0	0
6/15/17	80 Cars	127	65.1	79.5	CW	М	0	0
9/18/17	88 Cars	84	52.0	71.6	CCW	М	1	0
9/19/17	88 Cars	126	45.3	71.1	CCW	М	0	0
9/20/17	87 Cars	105	46.8	69.6	CW	М	0	0
9/21/17	86 Cars	105	62.2	71.6	CW	М	0	0
9/25/17	90 Cars	120	49.3	57.0	CCW	М	0	0
9/26/17	88 Cars	100	56.0	63.2	CCW	В	1	0
9/27/17	89 Cars	127	52.7	56.4	CW	М	0	0
9/28/17	89 Cars	130	52.6	55.8	CW	М	0	0
10/9/17	94 Cars	94	31.4	41.9	CCW	В	2	2
10/10/17	92 Cars	117	34.7	51.1	CCW	В	0	0
10/11/17	92 Cars	130	49.9	65.8	CW	В	0	0
10/12/17	91 Cars	130	49.2	67.5	CW	В	0	0
10/16/17	91 Cars	124	42.1	59.4	CW	М	0	0
10/17/17	90 Cars	21	45.0	56.2	CCW	М	2	1
10/18/17	91 Cars	130	54.1	61.4	CCW	М	0	0
10/19/17	92 Cars	130	39.9	72.0	CW	М	0	0
10/23/17	94 Cars	47	33.1	39.9	CCW	М	0	0
10/24/17	94 Cars	91	32.0	43.0	CCW	М	1	1
10/25/17	95 Cars	131	44.1	70.0	CW	В	0	0
10/26/17	96 Cars	60	34.0	41.0	CW	М	2	1
10/30/17	98 Cars	102	34.0	39.9	CCW	М	0	0
10/31/17	95 Cars	100	30.9	55.9	CCW	М	0	0
11/1/17	97 Cars	116	54.0	78.1	CW	В	1	1
11/2/17	97 Cars	110	34.0	55.0	CW	М	0	0
11/6/17	98 Cars	117	37.0	52.0	CCW	M	0	0
11/7/17	98 Cars	85	30.9	37.9	CCW	М	1	1

Date	Consist Info (3 Locos)	Number of Laps Completed	Temp. Low (°F)	Temp High (°F)	Clockwise (CW) Counterclockwise (CCW)	Main (M) Bypass (B)	Number of Broken Rails	Broken Rails Detected by Track Circuit
11/8/17	99 Cars	117	28.9	39.9	CW	В	0	0
11/9/17	99 Cars	91	30.9	39.0	CW	М	1	0

2.2.2 Documentation of Broken Rails During FAST Operations

During the calibration and evaluation period, 35 broken rails were documented. Three of these events had to be removed from consideration. Two of the breaks that were removed occurred in a location where there is no fiber optic cable alongside the track (beginning of section 9). The other break that had to be removed occurred when the fiber optic DAS systems were not running. Figure 5 illustrates the layout of the fiber and the location of the remaining 32 broken rail events that were recorded during the calibration and evaluation period. A subset of these broken rails was used for the evaluation of each system, depending on the evaluation start date and the daily recording state of each system.



Figure 5. HTL with Broken Rail Locations

For the purposes of this project, a broken rail refers to an event in which the rail is either completely severed or damaged significantly to the point where the risk of severing the rail appears to be imminent. Therefore, this evaluation not only included events when the rail itself had broken, but there were also broken welds in the rail. These have proven to be weak spots in the rail susceptible to failure. The HTL at TTC has approximately 1,000 welds along its 2.7 mile length, which is approximately 7 welds for every 100 feet of track. The probability that one of

these will fail during FAST operations is relatively high. As a result, the majority of broken rails that occur on the HTL are indeed actually broken welds.

When a broken rail occurs during FAST operations, it is recorded in a log book. Figure 6 through Figure 9 shows an example of the FAST logs for a night that had a broken rail during testing. Figure 6 provides an overview of that night's test with a detailed list of all the cars and locomotives in the train. For this example, the test run number was 5131 and testing began the night of November 7, 2016, and ended the morning of November 8, 2016. The train consisted of 3 locomotives and 76 cars and completed 107 laps around the HTL in the counterclockwise direction, while using lubrication and the bypass portion of the track.

Figure 7 provides a detailed description of the test's events throughout the night in chronological order. The night begins when everyone arrives, followed by a pretest meeting, a brake test, and the train starting laps on the HTL. Throughout the night, the test crew regularly checks bridges, monitors bearing temperature sensors, and measures rail deflection. In this particular case, the logs indicate a broken rail was detected at 12:35 a.m. during lap 108 and the train stopped at 12:38 a.m.

Figure 8 and Figure 9 provides more details about the broken rail per Appendix B. The HTL is equipped with track circuits that are designed to detect broken rails. However, in this instance the track circuit failed to detect the broken rail as noted in Appendix B under "Time of Red Signal" as "N/A." Appendix B includes additional information from the test controller about the broken rail. In this case, the broken rail occurred at a field weld and a defect in the base of the rail was identified. Other information recorded includes location, weld information (if applicable), air and rail temperature at time of repair, a drawing, gap lengths and rail size, along with any other comments the test controller deems necessary. In some cases, rail breaks can occur at weld locations where two different sizes of rail are welded together (e.g., a transition from 136-pound rail to 141-pound rail). For these breaks, the POS value refers to the size of the rail for the side of the break that has the larger rail and the NEG value refers to the size of the rail for the side that has the smaller rail. If both the POS value and NEG value are equal, then the size of the rail was the same on both sides of the broken rail. In this example, the broken field weld occurred in section 3, at or near tie 1108 on the outside rail. It was weld #2615-16, installed on January 18, 2016. The rail and air temperatures were 67 °F and 34 °F, respectively. There was no gap at the head and web, but there was a 1/8-inch gap at the base. Finally, both sides of the weld were 141-pound rail. Further comments indicated that this break was detected by a test crew member and there was no red signal (from the track circuit). In addition to the notes, the test controller also provided pictures of each break. Figure 10 is a picture of the broken rail for this example. All the test logs and accompanying pictures of all 32 breaks can be found in Appendix B, which is separate from this report.

FAST CONSIST RECORDING

Run No 513	Laps 107
Start Date (MM\DD\YY) 11-7-16	Lube (L=Lube, N=No lube)
Start Time (Hr Min) 1000	Track (M-Main, B=Bypass) By pass
End Date (MM\DD\YY)	Test Controller CASEY MR. AOUICIL
End Time (Hr Min) 0119	Comments
Direction (CW CC)	

Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number
1	F	L-126	32	B	3321	63	B	3318	94		
2	R	L-149	33	B	3414	64	B	3389	95		
3	F	1-125	34	B	3365	65	B	3186	96		
4	A	3123	35	B	3345	66	B	3369	97		
5	B	3311	36	B	3347	67	B	3399	98		
6	6	3370	37	B	3154	68	B	300	99	-	
7	B	3278	38	B	3100	69	B	3219	100		
8	B	3335	39	B	3253	70	B	3208	101		
9	B	3269	40	B	3373	71	B	3244	102		
10	B	3366	41	B	3280	72	B	3151	103	-	
11	B	3240	42	B	33.2 1	73	B	3288	104		
12	B	3211	43	B	3116	74	B	3197	105		
13	B	3114	44	B	3304	75	B	3152	106		
14	B	3346	45	B	3105	76	B	3394	107		
15	B	3195	46	B	3265	77	B	3353	108	1	
16	B	3155	47	B	3106	78	A	3360	109	-	
17	B	3320	48	B	3128	79	B	3678	110		
18	B	32.02	49	B	322.8	80			111		
19	B	3217	50	B	3140	81			112	-	
20	B	3164	51	B	3410	82		1. A	113		-
21	B	3117	52	B	3293	83			214		_
22	B	3312	53	B	3306	84			115	-	
23	B	3170	54	B	3376	85			116	-	
24	B	3172	55	B	3179	86			117		
25	B	3285	56	B	3109	87			118	8	
26	6	3275	57	B	3113	88			219		
27	B	3282	58	B	3358	89			120		
28	B	3150	59	8	3343	90			121		
29	B	3194	60	B	336)	91			122		
30	B	3290	61	B	3159	92			123		
51	B	3166	62	B	3395	93			1 224		

Figure 6. Example FAST Consist Recording

Test Controller	SEY MRACUICI	+		Air Temp 🛒
Test Title FAST TRA	IN DIERATIO	NS		Date ulalic alabe
Run No. 5131		Direction	ccus	Bypass
Summary of test events	s Start 160	o Stop	011	wo#
Time	Event	Time	-	Event
1615 # SWEILACS LEVE	> larges Gues	2056	#53	
100 # 100 EAG. ON	BOARD	2104	#55	
1710 # BEAKE TUST ST	AND Arionse	2112	457	
1726 # P.R. comparty +	LAD WI	2120	# 58	theat Reider av
1736 43		2124	# 60	32'-XA 3/2 24'-3/14 VI
1740 # 4		2152	#62	3/8 #8 \$18 5h
1748 #6		2136	# 64	
1756 #8		2144	#65	
1800 #9 Hot	Bac ob	2152	# 67	
1802 #12	1000 CO 15	2200	469	
18/6 #13		2204	# 70	Mot Box OK
1824 415		2212	# 72	
18 28 #16		2220	# 24	
1836 #18		2228	# 75	
1844 #20 32- 1/2 3/4	24- Yes 1/10	2232	# 22	
1852 #22 48 3/8	5/6 9/8	2240	#1	Strol Bridge out
1856 #23		2248	#81	32- 14 14 24- 416 416
1904 #15		2256	#83	3/8 48 1/8 18
1912 1127		23CO	# 84	
19 20 4 29		230%	#86	
1924 # 30 161	Bacole	2316	#83	and the second
1932 #32		2320	#89	Hot Base de
1940 # 34		23.28	#92	The state of
1943 # 35		2536	#23	
1952 #37		2344	495	
2000 #14 210 81	de o R	2348	97	
2008 41 20 2	Stor Sta	3356	#98	Steel Berdec at
2012 # 42 48 45	-18 -18	0004	#100	52-48 78 24- 34.3
2020 #44		0008	#102	#2 1/2 5/2 Str
2018 # 10		0010	103	10 10 11 79
2032 #47		0024	#105	
2040 #99	low is	00.28	107	
1048 451 4637	CAL OK	602	AND BA	came and altop true alto

Figure 7. Example Test Events Log

TTCI Internal Notes:

Rail X Field	Weld In-Track Weld. Joint Switch Other
Type of Defect (che	ck one)
Break Defe	ect Alignment Other
Defect Location (ch	eck one)
Head Web	Base Bolt Hole Other
Section	3
Tie	1108
I or O Rail	0
Weld #	2615-16
Weld Install Date	1-18-16
Rail Temp	670
Air Temp	340
Head Gap	1 ros roje
Web Gap	(DONDE
Base Gap	Xs''
Rail Size POS	141
Rail Size NEG	141
Commenter	

Figure 8. Example Broken Rail TTCI Internal Notes

TTCI Int	ernal Notes:
MATT	DA BOOLD
0035 Ja	has been called to stop truck found Break no fail sign
0038 M	+T stopped trains
Field we	& Broke Ser 3 The 110% Outside (Wi)
Bearing och	OLLO @ tragets about 770 what
- 141 -	Pos a NeG
YS" GAP	BASE NO GOD Head of WER
67° (ai)	temp
340 Au	temp

Figure 9. Example Additional TTCI Internal Notes



Figure 10. FAST Log Broken Rail Picture

Table 2 provides a summary of the FAST log data for the 32 rail breaks detected. The detection method refers to how the break was found. If the train stopped because the track signal went to red, it was detected by the track circuit, otherwise the broken rail was detected by the crew. GPS

location was not included in the FAST logs, but the section and tie number was used by an engineer to acquire the GPS data after the fact.

FAST Run #	Time of Detection	Detection Method	Latitude	Longitude	Section	TIE	Rail	Туре	Defect	Head Gap	Web Gap	Base Gap	Rail Size POS	Rail Size NEG	Rail Temp	Air Temp
5128	11/2/16 12:14 AM	Track Circuit	38.45431	-104.34542	32	6	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	141	58	41.3
5131	11/8/16 12:38 AM	Crew	38.4466	-104.35275	3	1108	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	0	0	1/8	141	141	67	34
5132	11/9/16 1:23 AM	Track Circuit	38.45385	-104.34685	33	59	Outsi de	In- Track Weld	Web/B ase	1/8	1/8	1/8	136	136	37	32
5133	11/9/16 10:28 PM	Track Circuit	38.44869	-104.34015	9	168	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	3/8	1/4	1/4	136	136	41	34
5133	11/9/16 11:44 PM	Track Circuit	38.4509	-104.35281	3	114	Outsi de	Field Weld	Web	1	1	1	141	141	43.8	34
5138	11/17/16 5:37 PM	Track Circuit	38.44684	-104.3529	3	1072	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	1/4	1/4	1/4	141	141	26	30
5138	11/17/16 11:41 PM	Track Circuit	38.45324	-104.3394	25	1572	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	2 1/2	2 1/2	2 1/2	136	136	31	27
5140	12/6/16 7:13 AM	Track Circuit	38.45370 6	-104.34714	33	104	Insid e	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
5143	12/8/16 1:39 PM	Track Circuit	38.45394 2	-104.34652	32	150	Insid e	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
5145	2/14/17 8:08PM	Track Circuit	38.44571 7	-104.35056	3	1469	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	5/8	5/8	1/2	136	136	40	32
5150	2/23/17 10:17 PM	Track Circuit	38.45339 5	-104.34769	40	250	Insid e	Field Weld	Base	3/4	3/4	3/4	141	136	14	20
5151	2/28/17 1:47 AM	Track Circuit	38.45240 8	-104.33482	25	1254	Outsi de	In- Track Weld	-	3/4	3/4	5/8	136	136	37	29
5159	3/9/17 11:04 PM	Crew	38.45186	-104.33448	25	1122	Outsi de	Rail	Base	1/16	1/16	1/16	136	136	52	45
5160	3/13/17 12:20 AM	Track Circuit	38.45443	-104.34539	31	266	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	1/8	1/8	1/8	141	141	57	34
5161	3/14/17 10:38 PM	Track Circuit	38.45415	-104.34106	29	296	Insid e	Field Weld	Base	1/4	1/4	1/4	136	136	57	40

 Table 2: Summary of Broken Rails During Trial

FAST Run #	Time of Detection	Detection Method	Latitude	Longitude	Section	TIE	Rail	Туре	Defect	Head Gap	Web Gap	Base Gap	Rail Size POS	Rail Size NEG	Rail Temp	Air Temp
5165	3/28/17 10:20 PM	Track Circuit	38.44596	-104.35153	3	1319	Outsi de	Rail	Base	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	136	51	40
5168	4/4/17 3:12 AM	Track Circuit	38.44754	-104.35351	3	899	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	3/8	3/8	3/8	136	141	45	36
5168	4/4/17 3:12 AM	Crew	38.45345	-104.33662	26	38	Outsi de	Field Weld	Web	0	0	0	136	136	40	32
5177	4/26/17 3:57 AM	Crew	38.44858	-104.33949	23	101	Insid e	Rail	Head	1/4	1/4	1/4	136	136	33	34
5196	6/14/17 2:57 AM	Crew	38.4457	-104.34924	3	1669	Outsi de	Rail	Head	0	0	0	136	136	89	52
5199	9/19/17 6:11 AM	Crew	38.45084	-104.35295	3	104	Outsi de	In- Track Weld	Web	1/16	1/16	1/16	141	141	80.3	47
5204	9/27/17 5:15 AM	Crew	38.44609	-104.34784	3	1901	Outsi de	Field Weld	Head	0	0	0	136	136	70.2	52
5207	10/9/17 10:18 PM	Track Circuit	38.44861	-104.33909	23	166	Insid e	Field Weld	Base	5/8	5/8	5/8	136	136	35.9	35
5207	10/10/17 1:20 AM	Track Circuit	38.44839	-104.33867	24	19	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	136	36.7	27.5
5212	10/17/17 11:23 PM	Crew	38.44674	-104.35286	3	1081	Insid e	In- Track Weld	Web	3/8	3/8	3/8	141	141	61.6	41
5212	10/18/17 3:37 AM	Track Circuit	38.44905	-104.34266	7	522	Insid e	In- Track Weld	Web	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	136	41	41
5216	10/25/17 12:46 AM	Track Circuit	38.44838	-104.33825	24	89	Insid e	Shop Weld	Web	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	136	43.8	36
5218	10/26/17 7:09PM	Track Circuit	38.4529	-104.33533	25	1438	Outsi de	Field Weld	Base	3/4	3/4	3/4	136	136	40	36
5218	10/26/17 10:48 PM	Crew	38.44747	-104.35345	3	935	Outsi de	In- Track Weld	Web	0	0	0	136	136	49.5	33
5221	11/2/17 12:52 AM	Track Circuit	38.44733	-104.34631	5	46	Insid e	Rail	Head	1/16	1/16	1/16	136	136	70.4	56
5224	11/7/17 8:15 AM	Track Circuit	38.4473	-104.34633	5	62	Insid e	Rail	Web/B ase	1/2	1/2	1/2	136	136	42.5	32

FAST Run #	Time of Detection	Detection Method	Latitude	Longitude	Section	TIE	Rail	Туре	Defect	Head Gap	Web Gap	Base Gap	Rail Size POS	Rail Size NEG	Rail Temp	Air Temp
5226	11/9/17 11:08 PM	Crew	38.44591	-104.35137	3	1349	Outsi de	Rail	Base	0	1/8	1/8	136	136	68	34

2.2.3 Documentation of Broken Rail Alarms from Fiber Optic Systems during FAST Operations

Table 3 contains daily data for broken rails, track circuit alarms, and alarm counts for each DAS system, taken from the RAIL_BREAK_DEFECT table in the fiber optic back office through February 2017. DAS system 2003 was a long fiber system that looped the HTL three times and alarms for DAS 2003 are split between the individual loops. Table entries with an N/A indicated the system was not operating during testing on that day.

Date	Broken Rails	Track Circuit	2000	2003 0 km 4.8 km	2003 14.8 km 19.6 km	2003 34.7 km 40.1 km	2005
12/5/2016	0	0	0	21	33	65	14
12/6/2016	1	1	0	75	72	62	10
12/7/2016	0	0	0	60	64	62	9
12/8/2016	1	1	3	5	19	18	4
2/13/2017	0	0	1	N/A	N/A	N/A	8
2/14/2017	1	1	1	13	11	19	18
2/15/2017	0	0	1	28	22	15	8
2/16/2017	0	0	1	8	9	4	3
2/21/2017	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
2/22/2017	0	0	1	8	9	7	10
2/23/2017	1	1	0	28	20	19	12
2/27/2017	1	1	1	11	7	25	6
2/28/2017	0	0	1	26	10	13	19
3/1/2017	0	0	7	26	7	20	15
3/2/2017	0	0	0	14	9	12	6
3/6/2017	0	0	0	11	11	22	4
3/7/2017	0	0	0	13	4	19	6

 Table 3: Daily Record of Broken Rails and DAS System Alarms Through February 2017

Date	Broken Rails	Track Circuit	2000	2003 0 km 4.8 km	2003 14.8 km 19.6 km	2003 34.7 km 40.1 km	2005
3/8/2017	0	0	0	12	7	17	3
3/9/2017	1	0	0	17	9	22	13
3/13/2017	1	1	0	3	1	7	1
3/14/2017	1	1	2	13	11	15	8
3/15/2017	0	0	0	4	7	8	11
3/16/2017	0	0	0	19	10	9	2
3/27/2017	0	0	1	5	8	13	13
3/28/2017	1	1	4	15	8	18	12
3/29/2017	0	0	0	16	9	15	6
3/30/2017	0	0	0	13	11	13	4
4/3/2017	2	1	3	13	5	13	15
4/4/2017	0	0	0	11	11	10	27
4/5/2017	0	0	0	16	11	12	17
4/6/2017	0	0	0	8	9	11	23
4/17/2017	0	0	0	10	5	14	8
4/18/2017	0	0	0	7	2	12	7
4/19/2017	0	0	0	16	9	7	3
4/20/2017	0	0	0	23	20	18	10
4/24/2017	0	0	0	16	6	9	19
4/25/2017	1	0	0	28	32	33	24
4/26/2017	0	0	4	10	12	26	33
4/27/2017	0	0	4	8	7	15	19
5/1/2017	0	0	8	16	18	26	18
5/2/2017	0	0	0	19	9	14	7
5/3/2017	0	0	0	23	8	18	14
5/4/2017	0	0	0	26	4	16	17
5/15/2017	0	0	12	9	13	24	22
5/16/2017	0	0	0	18	17	11	11
5/17/2017	0	0	1	30	10	14	10

Date	Broken Rails	Track Circuit	2000	2003 0 km 4.8 km	2003 14.8 km 19.6 km	2003 34.7 km 40.1 km	2005
5/18/2017	0	0	1	7	9	11	13
6/5/2017	0	0	0	11	5	16	14
6/6/2017	0	0	1	10	4	24	11
6/7/2017	0	0	3	8	13	10	5
6/8/2017	0	0	1	6	2	4	5
6/12/2017	0	0	3	18	14	16	6
6/13/2017	1	0	0	24	13	23	18
6/14/2017	0	0	1	7	3	9	4
6/15/2017	0	0	1	7	6	4	3
9/18/2017	1	0	1	34	28	33	3
9/19/2017	0	0	0	26	16	16	4
9/20/2017	0	0	1	12	17	14	9
9/21/2017	0	0	1	16	18	17	16
9/25/2017	0	0	0	18	25	10	13
9/26/2017	1	0	0	22	28	27	6
9/27/2017	0	0	0	15	15	9	6
9/28/2017	0	0	0	21	16	8	8
10/9/2017	2	2	2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
10/10/2017	0	0	0	23	23	17	26
10/11/2017	0	0	1	13	4	14	13
10/12/2017	0	0	0	4	2	7	3
10/16/2017	0	0	0	25	8	26	13
10/17/2017	2	1	2	8	12	8	5
10/18/2017	0	0	1	21	14	12	16
10/19/2017	0	0	0	8	8	13	2
10/23/2017	0	0	0	8	15	9	10
10/24/2017	1	1	0	23	23	19	21
10/25/2017	0	0	0	17	17	19	9
10/26/2017	2	1	1	17	12	26	21

Date	Broken Rails	Track Circuit	2000	2003 0 km 4.8 km	2003 14.8 km 19.6 km	2003 34.7 km 40.1 km	2005
10/30/2017	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	15
10/31/2017	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	37
11/1/2017	1	1	N/A	45	18	27	12
11/2/2017	0	0	2	18	21	29	22
11/6/2017	0	0	0	40	33	20	21
11/7/2017	1	1	1	36	27	23	38
11/8/2017	0	0	0	38	21	46	39
11/9/2017	1	0	2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

During testing and analysis of rail break alarms from the DAS systems, certain areas were found to experience a larger number of false alarms. After examining the track and locations where a larger number of alarms were found, 12 areas of particular note were identified. In addition to the analysis of the DAS systems completed for all alarms, additional data analysis was performed for alarms in these areas, to determine the number and percentage of alarms that occurred in these areas.

The areas identified as experiencing an increased number of alarms included switches, lubricators, insulated joints, fiber configuration, and bridges. Table 4 shows the number of alarms that occur for each track feature. Figure 11 shows a map of the HTL and the starting and ending location for each track feature. A few of the areas identified in the table are areas where track circuits also have trouble identifying rail breaks, due to jumpers around the features. These areas include switches, frogs, crossings, and bridge sections. Some areas have a larger number of alarms due to track features or fiber layout and these alarms might be eliminated with better fiber installation or improved configuration of the system.

	Track Feature	DAS 2000	DAS 2003 0 km–4.8 km	DAS 2003 14.8 km–19.6 km	DAS 2003 34.7 km-40.1 km	DAS 2005	Alarms per Feature
1	Switch to Frog	0	30	10	15	71	6
2	Rail Lubricator	1	13	6	6	0	26
3	Crossing/Rail lubricator	0	55	52	18	32	157
4	Switch	2	8	10	30	2	52
5	Level Crossing	1	4	1	25	14	45
6	Insulated Joints	3	73	135	320	237	768
7	Switch	0	2	2	2	0	6
8	Bridge 1	0	13	25	10	19	67
9	Bridge 2	0	8	24	92	71	195
10	Bridge 3	11	2	14	129	91	247
11	Fiber Depth Change	3	19	21	9	6	58
12	Fiber Crosses RTT	3	94	88	123	34	342
	Total Alarms per DAS System within Track Features Listed	24	321	388	779	577	
	Total alarms per DAS System during Trial	79	1377	1086	1388	996	
	Percentage of alarms within Track Features listed	30.4%	23.3%	35.7%	56.1%	57.9%	

 Table 4: Overview of Alarms Caused by Track Features


Figure 11. Location of Suppressed Areas

2.2.4 Data Analysis from Normal FAST Operations

Data from the daily FAST logs and DAS system rail break alarms from the RAIL_BREAK_DEFECT table in the fiber optic back office database were used to determine the validity of each alarm.

For each DAS system, GPS location and timestamp data from the rail break alarms were used to determine the location and time of the broken rail alarm. If an alarm was within 450 feet of an actual rail break and within two hours of the break being detected by the track circuit system, the alarm was recorded as a true positive. If an alarm was within 450 feet of an actual rail break that the track circuit did not detect and the alarm was prior to the broken rail being found by the test crew, the alarm was recorded as a true positive. Rail breaks that the DAS system did not alarm on were recorded as false negatives and all other alarms were recorded as false positives.

Table 5 provides an overview of the results from each DAS system during the trial for the dates each DAS system was active (i.e., after their final software updates and system configuration). For DAS system 2000, the system was active and the analysis included data from February 13, 2017, and later. For DAS systems 2003 and 2005, the system was active and the analysis included data from December 5, 2016, and later. The "Rail Breaks Detected" column in Table 5 corresponds to the number of rail breaks detected by each system, and the "True Positives"

column corresponds to the number of alarms that were caused by actual rail breaks. In cases where the number of true positives are greater than the number of broken rails detected, the systems alarmed multiple times for one or more of the individual rail breaks. The "False Negatives" column in Table 5 correspond to the number of actual rail breaks each system missed, meaning the system did not alarm for the rail break. Any alarm from a DAS system that was not a true positive was determined to be a false positive.

	Rail Breaks	Rail Breaks Detected	True Positives	False Positives	False Positives	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4)	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
2000	22	8	9	70	14	79	24	55
2003 0 km- 4.8 km	22	4	7	1370	18	1377	321	1056
2003 14.8 km– 19.6 km	22	4	4	1082	18	1086	388	698
2003 34.7 km- 40.1 km	22	3	10	1378	19	1388	779	609
2003	22	6	21	3830	16	3851	1488	2363
2005	22	4	4	992	18	996	577	419

 Table 5: Overview of Trial Results

Data Analysis for DAS System 2000

Data analysis on DAS system 2000 included data from February 13, 2017, to November 9, 2017. Over this period, DAS 2000 was active for 76 days and the train operating on the HTL completed 8,306 laps, which equates to approximately 22,426 train miles. Weekly summary data from the trial for DAS system 2000 is included in Table 6. As shown in Table 5 and Table 6, the FAST program observed 22 rail breaks during the 76 days DAS system 2000 was active and, of those 22 rail breaks, the track circuit identified 13 and the DAS system identified 8. The data in the table also shows that the track circuit had 9 false negatives and the DAS system had 14 false negatives and 70 false positives. Normalizing the false positives to a false alarm rate per 100 train miles, DAS system 2000 had a false alarm rate of 0.31 false alarms per 100 train miles.

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
2/13/2017- 2/16/2017	1	1	0	1	3	0	4	2	2
2/21/2017- 2/23/2017	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
2/27/2017- 3/2/2017	1	1	0	0	9	1	9	4	5
3/6/2017- 3/9/2017	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
3/13/2017- 3/16/2017	2	2	0	1	1	1	2	1	1
3/27/2017- 3/30/2017	1	1	0	0	5	1	5	5	0
4/3/2017- 4/6/2017	2	1	1	1	2	1	3	0	3
4/17/2017- 4/20/2017	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4/24/2017- 4/27/2017	1	0	1	0	8	1	8	0	8
5/1/2017- 5/4/2017	0	0	0	0	8	0	8	2	6
5/15/2017- 5/18/2017	0	0	0	0	14	0	14	5	9
6/5/2017- 6/8/2017	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	5
6/12/2017- 6/15/2017	1	0	1	0	5	1	5	1	4
9/18/2017- 9/21/2017	1	0	1	1	2	0	3	1	2
9/25/2017- 9/28/2017	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
10/9/2017- 10/12/2017	2	2	0	1	2	1	3	1	2
10/16/2017- 10/19/2017	2	1	1	1	2	1	3	1	2
10/23/2017- 10/26/2017	3	2	1	1	0	2	1	0	1

 Table 6: DAS System 2000 Data from February 2017–November 2017

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
11/2/2017	0	0	0	0	2	0	2	0	2
11/6/2017- 11/9/2017	2	1	1	2	1	1	3	0	3
Total	22	13	9	9	70	14	79	24	55

Analyzing the alarms further, the data shows that 24 of the 79 alarms, or approximately 30 percent, were located within track features that were identified as being particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates, per the discussion in Section 2.2.3. These alarms can be eliminated from the system by having them suppressed, but each area that is suppressed would then not have broken rail detection from the system. Raw data from the system can be used by the vendor to improve system configuration and response to reduce false alarms and improve the accuracy of broken rail detection.

Data Analysis for DAS System 2003

Data analysis on DAS system 2003 included data from December 5, 2016, to November 9, 2017. Over this period, DAS 2003 was active for 77 days and the train operating on the HTL completed 8,072 laps, which equates to approximately 21,794 train miles. DAS 2003 covered a wider date range and was active for an additional day than DAS 2000, but had fewer laps and miles during the trial. This is because the number of laps varies on a day by day basis depending on what testing was being completed and how many times the train had to stop during that day of testing. For the days DAS 2003 was active, there were fewer laps completed than when DAS 2000 was active.

Loop 1 0 km-4.8 km

Weekly summary data from the trial for DAS system 2003, loop 1, is included in Table 7. As shown in Table 5 and Table 7, the FAST program observed 22 rail breaks during the 77 days DAS system 2003 was active, and of those 22 rail breaks, the track circuit identified 14 and the DAS system identified 4. The data in the tables also shows that the track circuit had 8 false negatives and the DAS system had 18 false negatives and 1,370 false positives. Normalizing the false positives to a false alarm rate per 100 train miles, DAS system 2003, loop 1, had a false alarm rate of 6.29 false alarms per 100 train miles.

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
12/5/2016- 12/8/2016	2	2	0	0	161	2	161	63	98
2/14/2017- 2/16/2017	1	1	0	0	49	1	49	5	44
2/22/2017- 2/23/2017	1	1	0	0	36	1	36	1	35
2/27/2017- 3/2/2017	1	1	0	0	77	1	77	23	54
3/6/2017- 3/9/2017	1	0	1	0	53	1	53	16	37
3/13/2017- 3/16/2017	2	2	0	0	39	2	39	14	25
3/27/2017- 3/30/2017	1	1	0	0	49	1	49	15	34
4/3/2017- 4/6/2017	2	1	1	2	46	1	48	17	31
4/17/2017- 4/20/2017	0	0	0	0	56	0	56	13	43
4/24/2017- 4/27/2017	1	0	1	2	60	0	62	22	40
5/1/2017- 5/4/2017	0	0	0	0	84	0	84	5	79
5/15/2017- 5/18/2017	0	0	0	0	64	0	64	5	59
6/5/2017- 6/8/2017	0	0	0	0	35	0	35	3	32
6/12/2017- 6/15/2017	1	0	1	1	55	0	56	11	45
9/18/2017- 9/21/2017	1	0	1	2	86	0	88	30	58
9/25/2017- 9/28/2017	1	0	1	0	76	1	76	14	62

 Table 7: DAS System 2003, Loop 1, Data from December 2016–November 2017

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
10/10/2017- 10/12/2017	0	0	0	0	40	0	40	5	35
10/16/2017- 10/19/2017	2	1	1	0	62	2	62	10	52
10/23/2017- 10/26/2017	3	2	1	0	65	3	65	10	55
11/1/2017- 11/2/2017	1	1	0	0	63	1	63	16	47
11/6/2017- 11/8/2017	1	1	0	0	114	1	114	23	91
Total	22	14	8	7	1370	18	1377	321	1056

Loop 2 14.8 km-19.6 km

Weekly summary data from the trial for DAS system 2003, loop 2, is included in Table 8. As shown in Table 5 and Table 8, the FAST program observed 22 rail breaks during the 77 days DAS system 2003 was active, and of those 22 rail breaks, the track circuit identified 14 and the DAS system identified 4. The data in the tables also shows that the track circuit had 8 false negatives and the DAS system had 18 false negatives and 1,082 false positives. Normalizing the false positives to a false alarm rate per 100 train miles, DAS system 2003, loop 2, had a false alarm rate of 4.96 false alarms per 100 train miles.

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
12/5/2016- 12/8/2016	2	2	0	1	187	1	188	92	96
2/14/2017- 2/16/2017	1	1	0	0	42	1	42	11	31
2/22/2017- 2/23/2017	1	1	0	0	29	1	29	4	25
2/27/2017- 3/2/2017	1	1	0	0	33	1	33	18	15

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
3/6/2017- 3/9/2017	1	0	1	0	31	1	31	15	16
3/13/2017- 3/16/2017	2	2	0	0	29	2	29	15	14
3/27/2017- 3/30/2017	1	1	0	0	36	1	36	11	25
4/3/2017- 4/6/2017	2	1	1	1	35	1	36	17	19
4/17/2017- 4/20/2017	0	0	0	0	36	0	36	15	21
4/24/2017- 4/27/2017	1	0	1	1	56	0	57	31	26
5/1/2017- 5/4/2017	0	0	0	0	39	0	39	14	25
5/15/2017- 5/18/2017	0	0	0	0	49	0	49	14	35
6/5/2017- 6/8/2017	0	0	0	0	24	0	24	7	17
6/12/2017- 6/15/2017	1	0	1	1	35	0	36	6	30
9/18/2017- 9/21/2017	1	0	1	0	79	1	79	26	53
9/25/2017- 9/28/2017	1	0	1	0	84	1	84	24	60
10/10/2017- 10/12/2017	0	0	0	0	29	0	29	2	27
10/16/2017- 10/19/2017	2	1	1	0	42	2	42	13	29
10/23/2017- 10/26/2017	3	2	1	0	67	3	67	18	49
11/1/2017- 11/2/2017	1	1	0	0	39	1	39	1	38
11/6/2017- 11/8/2017	1	1	0	0	81	1	81	34	47

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
Total	22	14	8	4	1082	18	1086	388	698

Loop 3 34.7 km-40.1 km

Weekly summary data from the trial for DAS system 2003, loop 3, is included in Table 9. As shown in Table 5 and Table 9, the FAST program observed 22 rail breaks during the 77 days DAS system 2003 was active, and of those 22 rail breaks, the track circuit identified 14 and the DAS system identified 3. The data in the tables also show that the track circuit had 8 false negatives and the DAS system had 19 false negatives and 1,388 false positives. Normalizing the false positives to a false alarm rate per 100 train miles, DAS system 2003, loop 2, had a false alarm rate of 6.37 false alarms per 100 train miles.

Table 9: DAS System 2003, Loop 3, Data from December 2016–November 2017

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
12/5/2016- 12/8/2016	2	2	0	0	207	2	207	91	116
2/14/2017- 2/16/2017	1	1	0	0	38	1	38	22	16
2/22/2017- 2/23/2017	1	1	0	0	26	1	26	12	14
2/27/2017- 3/2/2017	1	1	0	0	70	1	70	57	13
3/6/2017- 3/9/2017	1	0	1	0	80	1	80	71	9
3/13/2017- 3/16/2017	2	2	0	0	39	2	39	28	11
3/27/2017- 3/30/2017	1	1	0	0	59	1	59	43	16
4/3/2017- 4/6/2017	2	1	1	3	43	1	46	33	13
4/17/2017- 4/20/2017	0	0	0	0	51	0	51	33	18

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Track Features (Table 4	Alarms Outside Track Features (Table 4)
4/24/2017- 4/27/2017	1	0	1	0	83	1	83	53	30
5/1/2017- 5/4/2017	0	0	0	0	74	0	74	33	41
5/15/2017- 5/18/2017	0	0	0	0	60	0	60	41	19
6/5/2017- 6/8/2017	0	0	0	0	54	0	54	32	22
6/12/2017- 6/15/2017	1	0	1	0	52	1	52	29	23
9/18/2017- 9/21/2017	1	0	1	6	74	0	80	56	24
9/25/2017- 9/28/2017	1	0	1	1	53	0	54	30	24
10/10/2017- 10/12/2017	0	0	0	0	38	0	38	16	22
10/16/2017- 10/19/2017	2	1	1	0	59	2	59	19	40
10/23/2017- 10/26/2017	3	2	1	0	73	3	73	31	42
11/1/2017- 11/2/2017	1	1	0	0	56	1	56	21	35
11/6/2017- 11/8/2017	1	1	0	0	89	1	89	28	61
Total	22	14	8	10	1378	19	1388	779	609

Additional Analysis for DAS System 2003

Looking at alarms within the track features particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates per the discussion in Section 2.2.3 for each loop, the data shows that loop 1 had 321 of the 1,377 alarms, or approximately 23 percent, within these track features, loop 2 had 388 of the 1,086 alarms, or approximately 36 percent, within these track features, and loop 3 had 779 of the 1,388 alarms, or approximately 56 percent, within these track features.

As each of these loops were monitoring the same track and train, just at different lengths along the fiber, trending analysis can be completed for system performance along the fiber. Looking at broken rail alarms, outside of the track features particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates, DAS system 2003 appears to be less sensitive the further away the fiber gets from the data collector, as seen by the number of alarms in loops 1, 2, and 3, which were 1,056; 698; and 609 alarms, respectively. Conversely, DAS system 2003 appears to be more sensitive to alarms within the track features particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates, as the number and percentage of alarms climbs from 321 and 23 percent for loop 1, to 388 and 36 percent for loop 2, and to 779 and 56 percent for loop 3. Raw data can be analyzed by the vendor to help determine why the system sensitivity changes in these areas.

Alarms in the track features are particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates that can be eliminated by suppressing those areas, which would significantly reduce the total number of alarms by the system, but that would also remove any type of broken rail detection from the system in those areas. The raw data may be used by the vendor to make improvements in the future that can reduce the number of false alarms and increase the accuracy of broken rail detection.

Data Analysis for DAS System 2005

Data analysis on DAS system 2005 included data from December 5, 2016, to November 9, 2017. Over this period, DAS 2005 was active for 80 days and the train operating on the HTL completed 8,400 laps, which equates to approximately 22,680 train miles. Weekly summary data from the trial for DAS system 2005 is included in Table 10. As shown in Table 5 and Table 10, the FAST program observed 22 rail breaks during the 80 days DAS system 2005 was active, and of those 22 rail breaks, the track circuit identified 14 and the DAS system identified 4. The data in the table also shows that the track circuit had 8 false negatives and the DAS system had 18 false negatives and 992 false positives. Normalizing the false positives to a false alarm rate per 100 train miles, DAS system 2005 had a false alarm rate of 4.37 false alarms per 100 train miles.

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Masked Area	Alarms Outside Masked Area
12/5/2016- 12/8/2016	2	2	0	1	36	1	37	26	11
2/14/2017- 2/16/2017	1	1	0	0	37	1	37	19	18
2/22/2017- 2/23/2017	1	1	0	0	22	1	22	15	7
2/27/2017- 3/2/2017	1	1	0	0	46	1	46	33	13
3/6/2017- 3/9/2017	1	0	1	0	26	1	26	12	14

 Table 10: DAS System 2005 Data from December 2016–November 2017

	Rail Breaks	True Positive (Track Circuit)	False Negatives (Track Circuit)	True Positives (DAS)	False Positives (DAS)	False Negatives (DAS)	Total Number of Alarms	Number of Alarms in Masked Area	Alarms Outside Masked Area
3/13/2017- 3/16/2017	2	2	0	0	22	2	22	16	6
3/27/2017- 3/30/2017	1	1	0	0	35	1	35	20	15
4/3/2017- 4/6/2017	2	1	1	1	81	1	82	64	18
4/17/2017- 4/20/2017	0	0	0	0	28	0	28	22	6
4/24/2017- 4/27/2017	1	0	1	1	94	0	95	41	54
5/1/2017- 5/4/2017	0	0	0	0	56	0	56	14	42
5/15/2017- 5/18/2017	0	0	0	0	56	0	56	27	29
6/5/2017- 6/8/2017	0	0	0	0	35	0	35	17	18
6/12/2017- 6/15/2017	1	0	1	0	31	1	31	19	12
9/18/2017- 9/21/2017	1	0	1	0	32	1	32	16	16
9/25/2017- 9/28/2017	1	0	1	0	33	1	33	20	13
10/10/2017- 10/12/2017	0	0	0	0	42	0	42	14	28
10/16/2017- 10/19/2017	2	1	1	0	36	2	36	24	12
10/23/2017- 10/26/2017	3	2	1	0	61	3	61	34	27
11/1/2017- 11/2/2017	1	1	0	0	86	1	86	59	27
11/6/2017- 11/8/2017	1	1	0	1	97	0	98	65	33
Total	22	14	8	4	992	18	996	577	419

Analyzing the alarms further, the data shows that 577 of the 996 alarms, or approximately 56 percent, were located within track features that were identified as being particularly susceptible to higher alarm rates, per the discussion in Section 2.2.3. Again, these alarms can be eliminated from the system by having them suppressed, but each area that is suppressed would then not have broken rail detection from the system. Raw data from the system can be used by the vendor to improve system configuration and response to reduce false alarms and improve the accuracy of broken rail detection.

2.3 Data Gathering and Analysis for Additional Testing

The evaluation of the broken rail detection of DAS systems was conducted during normal FAST operations, which means the majority of the testing was completed using a similar train operating at an average speed of 40 mph. A week of additional testing was conducted to see if the introduction of different speeds, high impact wheels, and/or rail joint alignments would result in additional false alarms produced by the DAS systems.

2.3.1 Speed Test

Given that the FAST train normally operates at a constant average speed of 40 mph, it was important to see how the systems performed while monitoring a train at speeds other than 40 mph, as well as during train acceleration and deceleration. This was the focus of testing on December 5, 2016. The locomotive of the FAST train was equipped with a GPS receiver. Figure 12 details the speed plot of the train during testing that day, obtained from the GPS data. The test plan called for the train to proceed at approximately 10 mph, 30 mph, and 20 mph for 10 consecutive laps around the HTL at each speed. Alarms from each system were monitored in the back office and used to determine if speed changes or operating at different speeds resulted in additional broken rail alarms. No broken rails were experienced on this day of testing.





During this day of testing, DAS 2000 had no broken rail alarms. Therefore, it appears the varying speed did not directly result in additional broken rail detection false alarms. However, because the system needs to track the train and determine its speed to perform broken rail detection, it is important to note that the speed data from this system, depicted in Figure 13, shows that the system had issues tracking the train's speed when it was traveling at 10 mph, meaning DAS system 2000 may not be able to provide broken rail detection at slower speeds in its current configuration.



Figure 13. Speed Plot for DAS System 2000

DAS System 2003 did produce false positive broken rail alarms during the speed testing. Plots of broken rail alarms and speed for loops 1, 2, and 3 are shown in Figure 14 through Figure 16, respectively. Looking at the total number of alarms at each speed, in Figure 14, through Figure 16, there is a trend of a higher rate of alarms when operating at lower constant average speeds than at the higher constant average speeds. Furthermore, looking at the number of false alarms during the 30 laps of speed testing, the number of false alarms per 100 train miles for loops 1, 2, and 3 are 38.27 false alarms per 100 train miles, 40.74 false alarms per 100 train miles, and 61.73 false alarms per 100 train miles, respectively. Over the whole trial, DAS 2003 had a false positive rate ranging from 4.96 to 6.37 false alarms per 100 train miles for the FAST train operating mostly at a constant average speed of 40 mph. Therefore, it appears the varying speed testing did result in additional broken rail detection false alarms for DAS 2003.







Figure 15. Speed Plot for DAS System 2003 Loop 2



Figure 16. Speed Plot for DAS System 2003 Loop 3

DAS system 2005 also produced false positive broken rail alarms during the speed testing. Figure 17 shows a plot of broken rail alarms and speed reported by DAS system 2005. Looking at the number of false alarms during the 30 laps of speed testing, the number of false alarms per 100 train miles. Over the whole trial, DAS 2005 had a false positive rate of 4.37 false alarms per 100 train miles for the FAST train operating mostly at a constant average speed of 40 mph. Therefore, it appears the varying speed testing did result in additional broken rail detection false alarms for DAS 2005.



Figure 17. Speed Plot for DAS System 2005

2.3.2 High Impact Wheel Test

From December 6–7, 2016, high impact wheels were introduced into the FAST train and grouped together to see if the high impacts from these wheels produce false broken rail alarms. There was a broken rail, before testing started, during the test conditioning run (TCR) in section 33. There were no additional broken rails experienced during the high impact wheel testing. High impact test run 5140 involved high impact wheels on four cars that had been identified by the FAST crew that were randomly placed in the FAST train. The train ran for 13 laps around the HTL at around 40 mph. Figure 18 is the Test Events Log for run 5140 and Figure 19 is the FAST Consist Recording, with highlighted cars showing where the high impact wheels were located in the train.

Test C	ontroller <u>Bzu Thomas</u>		Air Temp 3.9°
Test Ti	ILLO FAST OPS / FILME OFTEC		Date 12-6-16
Run N	o. <u>5740</u> Dir	ection	n <u>cew</u>
Summ	any of test events Start 0704	Stop	P_0931WO#_1495.0
Time	Event	Time	e Event
Qiesz.	# SET- RELEASE CK		# 100 March 10 March
0701	a 50% & alt. 8 Leas, 70 dets 198, 500, 10 ml		# Charles and the second second
0704	#ISTART TOR		#
0713	# TCL Com 1678 260 SHAVAL		8
0717	BEASTA AND SC 35 THE IS' ASA		# - Sec
0720	\$ 5.4416 72012N BACK TO ESS.		#
0729	& STAND BY FOR TRUCK REPORT		#
03.35	#2 lesing als HTL. IT reason		#
08HV	# 3 40 APH		#:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::
0848	#4 40 MPH	10	#
685°E	# 5 40 144		#
0956	# 6 40 MPH	1	#
0900	#740MPH		#
OPEN	# 5 40-MPH		#
6808	#9 40 MPH		#
0912	#10 HOMPH	1	
0917	# 11 40 MPH		#
6921	#12 40 MPH		#
0925	#13 lows lumbers, blass then be more		#
0934	# STEAT LOADSTON AND ANT SAFT CHAS.		#
	#		#
	*		#
	al l		#
	*		#
	#		#
	*		#
	*		#
	#		#
	#		#

Figure 18. Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5140





Car	Lead	Number	T	Car	Lead	Number	Г	Car	Lead	Number		Car	Lead	Number
1	F	L-121.	t	32	A	3154	t	63	B	3219	\square	94		
2	R	L-149	t	33	B	3100	1	64	B	3208		95		
3	R	6-147	t	34	B	3253	F	65	B	3244	1	96		
4	A	3123	t	35	B	3373	Γ	66	B	3151		97	1	
5	B	.3311	t	36	B	3280	1	67	B	3197		98		
6	B	3370	T	37	B	336z	Γ	68	B	3152	-	99	_	
7	B	3278	Γ	38	B	3116	Γ	69	B	3394		100		
8	в	3269	Г	39	B	3304		70	B	3353		101		
9	B	3366		40	B	3105	Γ	71	B	3414		102		
10	6	3240		41	B	3265	D	72	B	3347		103		
11	B	3211		42	B	3106		73	A	3360		104		
12	в	3114	Γ	43	B	3128		74		24		105		
13	B	3346		44	B	3228		75				106		
14	B	3195		45	B	3140		76				107		
15	B	3155	1	46	B	3410		77				108	10	
16	B	3320		47	B	3293		78			Г	109		
17	B.	3202		48	B_	3306		79				110		
18	B	3217		49	в	3376		80				111		
19	в	316H	[-	50	B	3179		81		1		112		
20	R	3117		51	B	3109		82				113		
21	в	331z		52	g,	3113		83		_		114		
22	B	3170		53	B	3358		84				115		
23	8	317Z_		54	ß.	3343		85				116		
24	В	3285		55	B	3351		86				217		
25	3	3275		56	В	3159		87				118		
26	ß	328Z		57	в	3395		88				119		
27	8	3194		58	B	3318		89				120		
28	B	3166	1	59	6	3389		90				121		
29	B	3321		60	B	3369		91				122		
30	6	3365		61	÷6	3399		92				123		
31	BI	3345		62	B	301		93				124		

Figure 19. FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5140

High impact test run 5141 included the four cars with high impact wheels from test run 5140, grouped together in the middle of the train and three additional cars with artificial high impact defects at the end of the train. The train operated in this configuration for five laps at 10 mph, five laps at 30 mph, and five laps at 20 mph. Figure 20 and Figure 21 shows the Test Events Log

and FAST Consist Recording for high impact test run 5141. Figure 22 shows a picture of an artificial high impact defect introduced in a wheel.

	Test Eve	ents Log	
est Co	ontroller Bzu THOMS		Air Temp_Z&.3
lest Tit	FAST ORS / FIELR OFFIC	~	Date 12:6-16
Run No	. <u>5141</u> Dir	rection <u>CCU</u>	/
Summa	ry of test events Start 1239	Stop 150	WO# 4465. D.Z
Time	Event	Time	Event
09.34	# START LOGO, SHERE'N ARANNA PAST AND ADTH	#	et Set a
1145	# JOUP LOOKS LIMPLE AZA. MICO NEW CAR LOOP. # STOCT AZA TAST	#	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1
215	# RAW ZUSP. 3 FINTSOT CHES. ALL OK	#	8 1000
232	# SET AND LILLARSE OK.	#	108 CA11
1239	# START CAS. 3 LOCUS. 75 GALS	#	·
1239	#1 10 MPH TER START	#	
1257	#2 10 MPH TCK CONRECTE	#	
1312	#3 ID MPH	# *	A Martin Street St
1326	#4 10 MPH	#	When as she weather
1340	#5 KMAH	#	all all a second and the
1353	#6 30 MPH	#	201 - A. A.A. 11
1358	# 7 30MPH	#	and the second states
1404	# 8 30 4194	#	Company & Statement
1409	# 9 30 MPH	#	and the bearing
1414	# 10 30MPH	#	8
1420	# 11 20 MPH	#	8 X3 I
1428	#13 20 MPH	#	Kine & distances
1436	#13 20-41/4	#	10 J 1 1 1 1
444	# 14 20MBH	#	2/ 1.
14SZ	# 1520 MPH	#	5
1505	# CANNETE OFS TREEN TO NTZ	#	
1,200	#	#	
		#	
	#	1 11	
	*	#	
_	*	#	
	#		
	#	#	

Figure 20. Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5141

FAST CONSIS	TRECORDING
Run No. 5141 Page 2	Laps
Start Date (MM\DD\YY) 12-6-16	Lube (L=Lube, N=No lube)
Start Time (Hr Min)	Track (M=Main, B=Bypass)
End Date (MM\DD\YY)	Test Controller
End Time (Hr Min)	Comments
Direction (CW CC)	

Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number	Т	Car	Lead	Number		Car	Lend	Number
1	F	L-126	32	B	3100		63	B	3219		94		
2	R	L-149	33	B	3253	Т	64	B	3208		95		1
3	R	L-147	34	B	3373		65	.6	3z44		96		
4	A	3123	35	B	3280		66	B	3151		97		
5	B	3311	36	B	336Z	Т	67	B	3197	П	98		
6	A	3370	37	B	3116	1	68	B	3152		99		
7	B	3278	38	B	3304	1	69	B	3394		100		
8	B	3269	39	B	3105		70	B	3353	П	101		
9	B	3366	40	B	3306		71	B	3414		102		
10	B	3240	41	B	3343		72	B	.3347		103		
11	B	3211	42	B	3275	٠	73	A	3360		104	-	1
12	B	3114	43	B	3265	٠	74	A	CD 63626		105		
13	B	3346	44	B	3106		75	A	CAL GUETA		106		
14	B	3195	45	B	3128		76	A	60/163113		107		
15	B	3155	46	B	3228		77		1.000		106	1.1	
16	B	3320	47	B	3140		78				109		
17	B	3202	48	B	3410		79				110		
18	B	3217	49	B	3293		80				111		
19	B	3164	50	B	3376		81				112		
20	8	3/17	51	B	3179		82				113		
21	B	33/z	52	B	3109		83				114		
22	B	3170	53	B	303		84				115		
23	B	3172	54	в	3358		85	1			116		-
24	B	3285	55	B	3351		86				117	1	
25	B	3282	56	B	3159		87				118		
26	B	3194	57	B	3395		88				119		
27	B	3166	58	B	3318		89				120		
28	B	3321	\$ 59	B	3389		90		(121	-	
19	B	3365	60	B	3369		91			1	122	- 1	
10	B	3345	61	8	3399	1	92				123		
12	B	3154	62	B	301		93			1	124		

Figure 21. FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5141



Figure 22. Artificial Flat Used to Cause High Impacts

High impact wheel test run 5142 grouped all seven cars with high impact wheels at the end of the train. The train operated in this configuration for 5 laps at 10 mph, 10 laps at 30 mph, and 10 laps at 20 mph. Figure 23 and Figure 24 show the Test Events Log and FAST Consist Recording for high impact test run 5142.

lest	Events Log
Test Controller BZU THOMS	Air Temp <u>21.4</u> °
Test Title FAST OPS FIBER OPTIC	Date 12-7-16
Run No. 5142	Direction <u>CC</u> LU
Summary of test events Start	Stop 1346 WO# 4458. D 2
Time Évent	Time Event
0857 # BEART LOUS. SWITCH OUT PLATER DANS.	#
0950 # FWESH LOAS WART FOR OUSTONA	#
1014 # JOHN ON S OF GEN STI BULLON OF	#
1014 #1 10 MPH START TOR	#
1033 #2 10 MAN TCE condition	#
1048 #310.004	#
1103 # 4 10 MPH	#
1118 #510MPH	#
1130 #6 30MPH	#
1136 #7 30 MPH	#
1141 #8 30MPH	ti .
1147 #9 30 MAH	#
1152 #10 30MP4	#
1157 #11 30 MAH	#
1203 # 12 30 MPH	#
208 # 13 30MPH	#
214 #14 30 MPH	#
219 #15 30-4194	#
1225 # 16 20 MPH	#
233 #17 20MPH	#
1241 #18 20 MPH	#
1244 #19 20 MPH	#
1256 #20 20MPH	#
1304 # 20 20 MPH	#
1312 #22 ZOMPH	#
1320 #23 20 MPH	#
1328 #24 ZO MPH	#
1336 #25 20 with	#
341, 4Candy 576 059.	#

Figure 23. Test Events Log for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5142

Run	No	S142				Lap	s					
Star	t Date ((MM\DD\YY)	12	1-16	_	Lub	e (L=Lut	e, N=No lube	}	L		_
Start	t Time ((Hr Min)	1014			Trac	k (M=N	tain, B=Bypas	5}	N	1	
End	Date (1	ANI DDI VVI	12-7	-1/-		Test	Contro	the Are -	THE W	244	_	
	pare fr			10			Gentre	Date:	~	1 -		
End	Jime [F	47 Min)				Con	nments,	PAST DI	2/	1 1-20	<u>&f. ()</u>	Proc
Direc	ction (C	:W CC)	a			_		A468.D). Z			
_	_										_	
Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number	Car	Lead	Number	⊢	Car	Lead	Numbe
1	E.	6-126	32	B	3100	63	B	3197		94		
2	R	1-149	33	B	3253	64	6	3152	1	95	1	- 10 I
5	R	1-147	34	B	3373	65	B	3394	Ĩ.	96		_
¢ -	A	3123	(35	B	3280	66	8	3353		97		
>	8	3311	36	B	3362	67	B	3414		98		
_	.8	.3370	37	B	3116	68	B	3347		99		
-	B	3278	38	B	3304	- 69	A	3360		100		
5	<u> </u>	3269	39	B	3105	70	B	3306	9	101		
3	5	3366	40	B	3106	71	B	3343	0	102	-	
10	B	3240	41	6	3128	72	8	3275	9	103		1
	6	3211	42	B	32.28	73	B	3265	0	104	_	
2	В	3114	43	10	3140	74	A	63626		105		
2	8	3546	44	B	3410	15	A	588572		106		_
5	5	3195	45	6	3293	76	A	163813		107	_	_
5	0	2770	40	B	3376	170			\square	108		_
7	5	2202	47	18	3/19	70	-		Н	109		
8	0	3202	49	0	2112	80	-		\vdash	110		
9	2	31.4	50	0	2200	81			\square	111	-	
0 1	B	3117	51	1	3252	82			\vdash	112		
1	B	3312	52	2.	2100	83			H	114		
2	B	3170	53	R	3295	84	-	-	\vdash	115		
	2	3172	54	B	3318	85			\vdash	116		
1	B	3285	55	B	3389	86			+	117		
5	B	32.82	56	B	3369	87			h	118	-	-
;	B	3194	57	B	3899	88			+	119	-	-
	B	3166	58	B	3111	89			+	120	-+	
T	8	3321	· 59	B	3219	90	-		+	121		

Figure 24. FAST Consist for High Impact Wheel Testing Run 5142

Table 11 shows the number of alarms for each DAS system for the high impact wheel testing.

в

BB

<u>33</u>45 RBB

Table 11: Broken Rail Alarms During High Impact Wheel Testing

System	Run 5140	Run 5141	Run 5142
DAS System 2000	0	0	0
DAS System 2003 Loop 1	1	84	69

System	Run 5140	Run 5141	Run 5142
DAS System 2003 Loop 2	3	69	64
DAS System 2003 Loop 3	4	58	62
DAS System 2005	1	9	9

DAS system 2000 does not appear to have an increased rate of false alarms due to high impact wheels, as evidenced by the fact that it did not produce any alarms during this testing. However, the increase of broken rail alarms from DAS systems 2003 and 2005 when high impact wheels are grouped together warranted further analysis. This analysis consisted of taking timestamps of the GPS locations of the head of the train correlated with the timestamps of the GPS locations of the broken rail alarms provided by each system. Using the GPS locations for the head end of the train of each broken rail alarm was calculated. Histograms were plotted representing the counts of broken rail alarms for high impact runs 5141 and 5142 along the train length for DAS system 2003 and Figure 26 shows the same for DAS system 2005. These broken rail alarm locations within the train were then compared to the FAST consist record for each run to determine if the broken rail alarm was located around the high impact wheels.



Figure 25. Broken Rail Alarm Histograms for DAS System 2003



Figure 26. Broken Rail Alarm Histograms for DAS System 2005

Not every broken rail alarm was included in these histograms, due to missing or very poor train location information provided by the systems for some of the broken rail alarms. The majority of the data however, did have train location information that was correlated with broken rail data to plot these histograms. The train length for the high impact wheel testing was approximately 1,267 meters long. For run 5141, the high impact wheels were located at approximately 658 meters to 724 meters and at 1,217 meters to 1,267 meters from the head of the train. For test run 5142 the high impact wheels were located at approximately 1,152 meters to 1,267 meters to 1,267 meters to 1,267 meters and at 1,217 meters to 1,267 meters to 1,267 meters to 1,267 meters and at 1,217 meters to 1,267 meters from the head of the train. For test run 5142 the high impact wheels were located at approximately 1,152 meters to 1,267 meters from the head of the train. Using the length of the train and the location of the high impact wheels, the histograms were used to observe if there were a high number of alarms located around the high impact wheels.

Histograms for DAS system 2003 show that the majority of the broken rail alarms were located at the front of the train where no high impact wheels were located. In test run 5141, there were high impact wheels located approximately 658 meters to 724 meters from the front of the train, but those high impact wheels were moved to the end of the train for test run 5142. Looking at histograms for test runs 5141 and 5142 and alarms around 600 to 800 meters from the front of the train, there is no noticeable difference in the number of alarms in that range, indicating that these high impact wheels did not seem to cause an increase in the number of broken rail alarms, at the location of high impact wheels located in the middle of the train. For both test runs 5141 and 5142, there are high impact wheels located at the rear of the train and the histograms do show a few broken rail alarms toward the rear of the train which may be caused by these high impact wheels. The histograms also indicate that some of the broken rail alarms occur at a distance beyond the length of the train, which are probably caused by timing and location inaccuracy in the alarms, as well as acoustic signatures extending beyond the end of the train. Looking at the number of false alarms during the 45 laps of testing for test runs 5141 and 5142, the number of false alarms per 100 train miles for loops 1, 2, and 3 are 125.93 false alarms per 100 train miles, 109.47 false alarms per 100 train miles, and 98.77 false alarms per 100 train miles, respectively. Over the whole trial, DAS 2003 had a false positive rate ranging from 4.96 to 6.37 false alarms per 100 train miles for the FAST train operating predominantly at a constant average speed of 40 mph. Therefore, it appears this high impact wheel testing did result in additional broken rail detection false alarms for DAS 2003. Further testing will be required to determine if the additional broken rail alarms were due to the high impact wheels, the test speed, or a combination of both.

Histograms of broken rail alarms for DAS system 2005 indicate that high impact wheels did not appear to cause an increase in the number of false positive alarms at the location of high impact wheels in the trail. However, looking at the number of false alarms during the 45 laps of testing for test runs 5141 and 5142, the number of false alarms per 100 train miles for DAS 2005 is 12.34 false alarms per 100 train miles. DAS 2005 had a false positive rate of 4.37 false alarms per 100 train miles for the FAST train operating mostly at a constant average speed of 40 mph. Therefore, it appears this high impact wheel testing did result in additional broken rail detection false alarms for DAS 2005. Further testing will be required to determine if the additional broken rail alarms were due to the high impact wheels, the test speed, or a combination of both.

2.3.3 Rail Gap Test

On December 8, 2016, the train was operated over a rail joint of varying gap widths to see if gaps at rail joints cause an increase in broken rail alarms. This joint was located in section 3, near tie 1051 on the HTL. Initially, the rails were butted up against each other with no gap. Then gaps of 1/2 inch and 1 inch were introduced. The train was tested over these gaps at speeds of 20 and 40 mph for five laps at each speed. Figure 27 is the Test Events Log for run 5143 for the rail gap testing. The DAS systems did report broken rail alarms during the rail gap testing, but none of the alarms appeared to be caused by the gaps in the rail joint. Figure 28 shows the location of the rail joint under test and the location of broken rail alarms for each DAS system.

	Test Eve	ents L	.og
fest Co	ontroller Bell THOMAS		Air Temp_/6.1*
fest Til	10 FAST ORS/ FLEER DATEC		Date 12-8-14
Run No	Dir	ection	ccw
Summa	ary of test events Start 103%	Stop	1629 WO# <u>A465.D.2</u>
Time	Event	Time	Event
0740	# SET AND RELEASE OK.	1431	# TRACK WORK COMPLETE. RESUME OFS
0750	#ROADY TO RW. SEAD BY FOR SYSTEM.	1431	#\$ 40.upt
0907	# STAR LOAS- REL TRAD BOUN TO XING	1439	#9 40 мрн
0915	# START THACK WORK. CREATE, 5" GAP	1443	# 10 40 1111
1034	# TRACK WORK COUNDLAYON LOUD TOS H	1447	# 11 SLOW HOW WAP
1038	H DEALT AND . BLACKS . 66 CAPS	1455	H ORS COMPLETE. START THERE WORK FOR
038	# 20 M/H STUDT RI	1572	# TRACE WALK CONSIGNE. SHIWE TRATIN GACE
1050	# 2 20 WATTER COURSE	1517	# STOP GOUS WHAT POOR EASE GROATE STORDA
1058	#3 20 MPH	1527	# START OPS NTE. Sweets, be cades
1106	# 4 20 MPH	1528	#1 20-441
11/3	# 5 20 MPH	1538	# 2 20 MPH
1121	#6 40 MPH	1546	#3 20401
1/2/0	# 7 40 MPH	1554	#4 20,444
1130	# 8 40 wit	1602	#5 70 MPH
1134	# 9 40 MPM	11.05	#6 40,000
1/36	# 10 40 MPH	1612	# 7 40 140 #
1143	#11 LAP For Sign David	1417	#8 40,404
1150	# / put set at 111 15 start the se	1621	#9 HOWA
1235	I THACK WORK COMPLETE. SHOLE THESE SHE TU	1625	#10 40 44
1241	# STHET LOGS SUBJECTION IN STATE AND T	1629	#1) Simpley W. Chatters
1249	HING OFFATE, STAAT OF HTL, 210CB, GOOD	16.29	# START LOLE AN TRANS AND
1249	# 1 20 M.P.H	1757	HIGH CHART
1300	# 7. 20 40 414	1/3/	#
1308	#3 20 M/H	<u> </u>	#
1315	# 4 20 484		#
1202	#5 70 4		#
1380	# 4 40 HH	<u> </u>	#
1320	# 7 40 MEH		a
1335	which the me address dam. for 27 The 150		

Figure 27. Test Events Log for Rail Gap Testing Run 5143



Figure 28. Rail Gap Testing DAS System Alarms

2.4 DAS System Observations during Testing

A number of observations were made over the course of the project. These observations took place during the setup of the DAS systems, calibration periods, and testing. Observations that have been noted occurred on one or more of the DAS systems.

- Calibration and GPS mapping errors contributed to early false alarms (fixed before trial period started)
- There were issues with tracking trains at lower speeds, which resulted in gaps of broken rail detection availability
- There were alarms caused by train acceleration and deceleration (observed during calibration periods, but believed to have been filtered out by the vendor during the trial)
- Some DAS systems only alarm once per event and other DAS systems alarm multiple times for the same event
- Location determination of train and broken rail alarms have a tolerance range of ±450 feet
- The test bed was only configured for single track territory, but testing during some periods of the trial on the RTT caused alarms on the HTL (these alarms were discarded because the test bed was setup for single track testing)
- Some vendor broken rail alarms that were not actual broken rails were more closely inspected at the vendors' request, and the following were found:

- One alarm correlated with a section of rail that had a crushed head (rail was replaced before the next day of testing)
- Another alarm correlated with a section of ties that had loose spikes (spikes were fixed before the next day of testing)
- Another alarm was at a location with a lot of rail and tie pumping (track crew inspected area and determined additional tamping was needed)
- During FAST operations the crew on the ground can detect the rail break before the train moves off of the signal block, meaning there is less than one train pass over the rail break.
 - When the break was found immediately by the crew, the DAS systems may not have gathered as much data for that break as it would with rail breaks in normal revenue service operations

3. Gap Analysis

This section summarizes the research completed to determine whether or not DAS systems can perform the functions of conventional track circuits. The following subsections give an overview of conventional track circuits and a comparison between track circuits and DAS systems for various use cases.

3.1 Track Circuit Background

Track circuits have been in use by North American railroads in one form or another since the late 1800s and have seen only one major design change in their nearly 150 years of use.

The first track circuit was demonstrated by its inventor, Dr. William Robinson, in 1870 [2]. The design consisted of trackside levers attached by wire to relays that would energize to activate an actuator that changed the aspect of a track signal when that lever was acted upon by the wheels of a passing train. As the train proceeded along its route, it would again encounter a lever that would reset the signal to its original state. This track circuit was known as an open circuit system as the circuit is open (turned off) in the absence of a train, and it is closed (turned on) when a train is present. The design was quickly adopted by the Philadelphia and Erie Railroad and installed at Kinzua, PA.

Upon further evaluation of his design, three major flaws were identified that could introduce dangerous operating conditions for the railroads:

- 1. A train has the potential to set the signal to a clear indication while still present upon a section of track. If that train were to stop, after setting the signal to clear, a following train would have no indication of the train ahead, making a train collision possible.
- 2. A train may enter the section of track at the opposite end, or from a siding, and not activate the block signal having not encountered one of the controlling levers. This again would lead to a false clear indication to trains making opposing movements.
- 3. In the event of a broken wire, the visual block signal system would fail in the clear position whether or not a train is occupying the block ahead, making train collisions possible.

It was determined that for any railroad signaling system to be effective, it had to be fail-safe. Fail-safe means that, in the event of a system failure (e.g., power outage or broken wire), the system will fail in a manner that leaves the system in its safest position. In the case of visual block signals, it is desirable to have the signal show the most restrictive indication.

The second first track circuit design shared many similarities to his first. Both utilized electrical current generated by a battery to power relays that activated actuators controlling the signal aspect displayed. However, this new system was set up to utilize the rail itself as a conductor of electrical current. This required sections of track, known as blocks, to be electrically isolated or insulated from one another by using insulated joints at each end of the block. At one end of the block, a battery was connected to the rails with each of its terminals attached to opposite rails. On the opposite end of the block, a relay was connected with its magnet terminals similarly attached to opposite rails. In the absence of a train, the electrical current would flow from one

battery terminal, down a rail, energize the relay at the opposite end, pass through the relay to the opposite rail, returning to the battery thereby closing the circuit and energizing the clear signal.

When a train entered the block controlled by the track circuit, the wheels and axles of the train electrically connected one rail to the next, as they are sufficiently conductive to allow an electrical current to pass through them. This diversion of the track circuit's electrical current was sufficient to redirect current flow away from the relay at the opposite end, de-energizing its magnet. When de-energized, the relay would switch the signal aspect from clear to stop. This is known as a closed circuit system, as the circuit is closed (turned on) in the absence of a train, and it is opened (turned off) when a train is present. Further, this design satisfied the criteria of a fail-safe system as in the event of a failure in the circuit (e.g., power failure, broken wire, or potentially a broken rail), the visual block signal would automatically display its most restrictive indication.

The closed circuit track circuit design, patented in 1872 and first implemented in mainline railroad service in 1872, remains to this day the foundation on which all railroad signaling systems are designed.

The primary function of a track circuit is to indicate the presence of a train within a defined section of track known as a block. However, the physical presence of a train is not the only means by which a track circuit may show a block as occupied.

Due to the functional characteristics of the track circuit's closed circuit design, the track circuit can be used as an indicator of other potential risks associated with the track structure. One such risk is a broken rail. In the event of a broken rail within a block, and assuming the rail breaks in such a manner that the two sections of rail separate sufficiently to no longer be in contact, the track circuit will show the block as occupied.

This track circuit concept is still the underlying system to modern signaling systems. Signaling systems use information from the track circuit and communicate with adjacent signal blocks, typically by a coded message through the rail, to create a signaled block system that can give engineers advance warnings for approaching stops or track diversions. The next few sections cover some use cases with explanation of how track circuits and DAS systems operate. Recommendation for use of supplementary technologies or improvement to DAS systems are made for use cases where a DAS system cannot currently operate at the same level as track circuits.

3.2 Use Cases

TTCI worked with the Advisory Group to develop typical use cases for a fiber optic DAS Broken Rail Detection system.

3.2.1 Broken Rail – Single Track Territory

For this section, only indications from the systems pertaining to broken rails in single track territory are considered.

The design of track circuits is such that if the rail breaks and there is enough electrical separation between the rail, the track circuit will indicate a stop at the entrance into that block, protecting the train from the broken rail. A track circuit will not indicate where within the block a broken rail is located, just that there is a rail break somewhere within that entire block. Track circuits do have a few limitations that will result in giving a clear signal into a block that has a broken rail. If the rail break does not electrically break the circuit, the track circuit will still indicate a clear into the block. There are also dead sections within a track circuit where certain features are jumpered electrically to eliminate track circuit failures due to joint connections. If a rail break occurs between jumpered sections, a track circuit will still indicate a clear into the block. Due to the fail-safe nature of track circuits, there can be a stop into a block where no rail break is present. If the track circuit connection to the rail is broken, power to the track circuit is interrupted, and/or signal jumpers are broken within the track circuit, the block will show a stop even though there are no rail breaks within the circuit. To clear a track circuit block that has a stop due to a broken rail or other issue, the rail needs to be replaced or the issue needs to be fixed. As soon as the rail or issue is repaired and the circuit is electrically closed, the track circuit will indicate a clear into the block.

DAS systems have the potential to detect rail breaks that produce a significant amount of acoustic energy as a train moves over the break. As seen in the DAS rail break trial, there are rail breaks that DAS systems currently miss either due to low acoustic energy or located around features that cause acoustic signatures that interfere with the capability to detect the broken rail. A DAS system also requires the presence and active tracking of a train to detect broken rails and current systems showed some issues of train tracking at lower speeds, which means there may be gaps in their ability to detect rail breaks at slow speeds. Future enhancements need to be made to DAS systems to improve the success rate of broken rail detection and the tracking of trains at lower speeds. Data from the trial also showed that other acoustic signatures from the train moving down the track resulted in the DAS system flagging broken rails when there were none.

DAS systems will report a GPS location for the broken rail alarm that will narrow down the location of the break, as compared to track circuit blocks. An inspector may need to inspect an area around the reported GPS location, because of reporting tolerance by the systems, but the inspector may not need to inspect the whole section monitored by the DAS system. If there is an alarm for a rail that is broken and subsequently fixed, or if the alarm was a false alarm, there needs to be some mechanism to clear the alarm at the DAS system. Currently, this is a manual process. This can result in an unsafe condition if the system alarms to a true broken rail, but the inspector misses the break and clears it from the system. In this case, the rail would still be broken and at least one train would be allowed into a clear block before the broken rail would be flagged again.

DAS system recovery from power outage or other system failures would also need to be addressed. Unlike track circuits, when DAS systems recover from a power outage or other system failure, they have no way of checking the rail for continuity until the system tracks a train across the block. This may require the train to operate at restricted speed over areas where broken rail detection is provided by a DAS system that has lost power or failed, until a train passes or some other solution that can verify the area is clear of broken rails.

3.2.2 Occupancy – Single Track Territory

For this section, only occupancy indications from the systems for single track territory are considered.

Track circuits will show a block occupied when a train or equipment enters the block and shunts the track. The track circuit will continue showing the block occupied until the train exits the block and the circuit is closed again. If a train or equipment enters a block but does not shunt the track, the block may still give a clear indication. If there is a track circuit to rail connection issue, equipment failure, and/or power outage, the block will indicate as occupied. Once the issue is corrected, the track circuit will again be able to tell if the block is clear or not.

DAS systems can track a train along the track and show blocks occupied, with some known issues at lower speeds. DAS systems will need to improve train tracking for all speeds to make sure track occupancy works reliably. DAS systems would also need to show that different types of track equipment can be tracked at all speeds when on the rails and that traffic operating on parallel roads or access roads do not show up as occupied track. A buffer may need to be built around the reported train location to make sure the reported occupancy is correct, due to current accuracy of DAS system location determination.

If there are equipment or power issues with the DAS systems, the track will show occupied, but unlike track circuits, once the issue is resolved, the DAS system will not have any indication of whether the track is occupied or not.

Another occupancy scenario of concern, although unlikely, is one in which the DAS system is tracking a train that comes to a stop, then one car is disconnected from the consist and the train continues down the track. With current location determination of the train, there could be a chance the DAS system clears the track occupancy with the car sitting on the track. Wheel sensors could be used with the DAS systems to eliminate some of these concerns by counting the cars in and out of areas, as well as knowing if the train has entered an area past the wheel sensor or not.

3.2.3 Occupancy – Multi-Track Territory

For this section, only occupancy indications from the systems for multi-track territory are considered. It is also noted that limitations from single track territory are still valid for multi-track territories.

In multi-track territory, track circuits operate the same way as in single track territory and will distinguish which track the train is occupying. Track circuits will also indicate whether or not a train is within clearance limits of adjacent tracks and will update block occupancy as necessary. If multiple trains are operating on parallel tracks, track circuits will show occupancy of the blocks each train is operating on.

DAS, as a stand-alone system, has the potential to track a train across multi-track territory but will not be able to definitively determine which track the train is located on. Monitoring switch positions or strategically placing wheel sensors and integrating this information with a DAS system could allow for the system to track a train through multi-track territory and report track occupancy accurately. Wheel sensors may also be needed at clearance points of tracks to be used with the DAS system to make sure occupancy for blocks is updated when a train enters or passes the clearance point. With wheel sensors and/or monitoring of switch positions, DAS systems have the potential to track multiple trains on parallel tracks, but testing of the location determination of each train would need to be conducted to see if acoustic signatures interfere with the ability to reliably track the trains.

3.2.4 Broken Rail – Multi-Track Territory

For this section, only indications from the systems pertaining to broken rails in multi-track territory are considered. It is also noted that limitations from single track territory are still valid for multi-track territories.

In multi-track territory, track circuits operate the same way as in single track territory and will distinguish which track a broken rail is on. If there are multiple broken rails on adjacent tracks, track circuits will indicate stop for the blocks on each track.

DAS, as a stand-alone system, has the potential to monitor for broken rails as a train moves down the track, but will not be able to flag a specific track for broken rail alarms. Monitoring switch positions or strategically placing wheel sensors and integrating this information with a DAS system could allow for the system to track a train through multi-track territory and report broken rail alarms on the correct track. With this integration in place, DAS systems have the potential to track multiple trains on parallel tracks and monitor for broken rails, but testing of broken rail detection capabilities with multiple trains operating in the same area would need to be conducted to see if acoustic signatures interfere with the ability to detect broken rails and select the correct track the broken rail is on.

3.2.5 Additional DAS System Capabilities

In addition to track occupancy and broken rail detection, DAS systems have the potential to provide additional functionality. DAS systems can potentially use the acoustic signatures of the track and train to monitor trains within a block or approaching grade crossings, monitor track structure, operate as slide fence protection, provide high wheel impact detection, and/or trespassing detection.
4. Conclusion

A baseline evaluation of DAS broken rail detection capabilities was conducted on three fiber optic DAS systems. Raw data from the testing was recorded and saved, and is available for the vendors to use for playback while making improvements on their systems. The evaluation conducted by TTCI showed that improvements need to be made to the broken rail detection accuracy, as well as the false positive rate, before the technology would be acceptable for revenue service operation. Testing and observations also identified other areas of improvement to DAS systems, such as improved train tracking at lower speeds, improved handling of train acceleration and deceleration, and improved configuration or system response to track structures that cause higher acoustic energy events like switches, frogs, and crossings.

The comparison between DAS systems and conventional track circuits also identified areas of concern for DAS systems, such as track discrimination, precise train location, system recovery from a shutdown, power outage, or other system failure, performance with other train types and track equipment, and detection capabilities with multiple trains operating on parallel tracks.

It is recommended that the next steps of DAS system testing be conducted in single track territory or dark track territory with emphasis on improving broken rail detection accuracy and reducing the false positive rate. This will also provide testing on other train types at varying speeds. The vendors should also pick a location that can highlight some of the additional capabilities of DAS systems, such as train tracking through blocks or approaching grade crossings, high impact wheel detection, and/or track structure monitoring.

5. References

- Holcomb, M., and Mauger, D. (2013, October). "*Feasibility Study of Fiber-Optic* <u>Technology for Broken Rail Detection</u>." Technical Report, DOT/FRA/ORD-13/44, Washington, DC: Federal Railroad Administration.
- 2. American Railway Association. (1922). "The Invention of the Track Circuit: The history of Dr. William Robinson's invention of the track circuit, the fundamental unit which made possible our present automatic block signaling and interlocking systems." New York, NY: Signal Section of American Railway Association.

Appendix

Technical Transportation Center, Inc. (2018). <u>Appendix A. TTCI DAS Rail Break Trial Results</u> <u>and Analysis Report, and Appendix B. Compilation of FAST Logs</u>. Federal Railroad Administration: Washington, DC.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

Abbreviations	Acronyms
DAS	Distributed Acoustic Sensing
FAST	Facility for Accelerated Service Testing
FRA	Federal Railroad Administration
GMT	Greenwich Mean Time
GPS	Global Positioning System
OTDR	Optical Time Domain Reflectometer
HTL	High Tonnage Loop
RTT	Railroad Test Track
SQL	Structured Query Language
TCR	Test Conditioning Run
TTC	Transportation Technology Center (site owned by Federal Railroad Administration)
TTCI	Transportation Technology Center, Inc. (wholly owned AAR subsidiary)